University of Kentucky UKnowledge

Theses and Dissertations--Music

Music

2023

Music Therapy at an Inclusive Early Learning Center: A Grant Proposal

Laura Elliott Buckner *University of Kentucky*, leb4141@yahoo.com Author ORCID Identifier: https://orcid.org/0009-0007-2259-075X Digital Object Identifier: https://doi.org/10.13023/etd.2023.452

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Buckner, Laura Elliott, "Music Therapy at an Inclusive Early Learning Center: A Grant Proposal" (2023). *Theses and Dissertations--Music.* 238. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/music_etds/238

This Master's Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Music at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations--Music by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained needed written permission statement(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine) which will be submitted to UKnowledge as Additional File.

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the irrevocable, non-exclusive, and royalty-free license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless an embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's thesis including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Laura Elliott Buckner, Student Dr. Alaine Reschke-Hernández, Major Professor Dr. Martina Vasil, Director of Graduate Studies

MUSIC THERAPY AT AN INCLUSIVE EARLY LEARNING CENTER: A GRANT PROPOSAL

THESIS

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Music in the College of Fine Arts at the University of Kentucky

By

Laura Elliott Buckner, MT-BC Lexington, Kentucky Director: Dr. Alaine Reschke-Hernández, Assistant Professor of Music Therapy Lexington, Kentucky 2023

> Copyright © Laura Elliott Buckner 2023 https://orcid.org/0009-0007-2259-075X

ABSTRACT OF THESIS

MUSIC THERAPY AT AN INCLUSIVE EARLY LEARNING CENTER: A GRANT PROPOSAL

Music in early childhood can enhance the development of communication, language, cognitive, and social emotional skills. Music therapy administered by a boardcertified music therapist can be tailored to fit the specific developmental needs of children with and without disabilities. The purpose of this comprehensive clinical project was to develop a music therapy program for the Early Learning Center at the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center and a grant proposal to fund this program. First, I piloted a mini program through my Graduate Clinical Placement in Music Therapy (MUS 633) and supervisory experiences through my teaching assistantship. I then developed a program proposal that originated from an assignment in MUS 630: Medical Music Therapy. I tailored that program based on iterative feedback from various sources and based on the needs of the center identified by communication with the Director of the Early Learning Center. The program is grounded in the Affirmative Model of Disability, and I incorporated information gleaned from the Therapeutic Function of Music process to develop the music therapy components. Once I established the refined program proposal, I searched for an appropriate funding source for nonprofit organizations. After I identified an appropriate funding source (Toyota Motor Manufacturing, Kentucky, Inc.), I completed the grant application and received and reflected on feedback from various professional sources and my thesis chair. The completed clinical project is a detailed process on how I developed a music therapy program and grant proposal for an inclusive early learning center and a reflection on what I learned and the barriers I faced while completing this project. Music therapists may use this project as a model for program development and funding acquisition.

KEYWORDS: early childhood music therapy, inclusive early learning center, preschool music, child development, grant proposal

Laura Elliott Buckner (*Name of Student*)

12/15/2023

Date

MUSIC THERAPY AT AN INCLUSIVE EARLY LEARNING CENTER: A GRANT PROPOSAL

By Laura Elliott Buckner, MT-BC

Dr. Alaine Reschke-Hernández

Director of Thesis

Dr. Martina Vasil Director of Graduate Studies

12/15/2023

Date

DEDICATION

To my grandfather and late grandmother, Fred and Lorene Trentham. They have supported and loved me my entire life and have been the cornerstone of my family.

"I'm made up of the memories of my parents and my grandparents, all of my ancestors. They're in the way I look, in the colour of my hair. And I'm made up of everyone I've ever met who's changed the way I think." — Terry Pratchett

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The following clinical project, while an individual work, would not have come to fruition without the support of several people. First, thank you to my mom, Cindi. Your intense proofreading over the course of my entire education prepared me for the revisions and constructive feedback from the various professionals who have read my work. In addition to proofreading my writing, your emotional support through lots of tears and stress and feelings of inadequacy does not go unnoticed.

To my thesis committee chair, Dr. Alaine Reschke-Hernández, you have supported me every step of the way, with each pitfall and unexpected turn. You once described writing a thesis like a rollercoaster; there are highs and lows and twists and turns in between. You rode this rollercoaster with me until the very end. You challenged me when I did not challenge myself, and you encouraged me to rest when I was pushing myself too hard. You have supported me and showed up for me the entire time I have been a graduate student at the University of Kentucky. To my committee members, Drs. Olivia Swedberg Yinger and Natalie Pope, thank you for your time and expertise relating to the topics included in this work. I appreciate your guidance and how you have helped me become not only a better writer, but a better professional as well. Additionally, thank you, Dr. Martina Vasil. The skills I gained in your class, MUS 600: Introduction to Research, were essential. Without your teaching and feedback on my assignments, I would not have been able to write and complete a project of this caliber. Many thanks also go to the staff at the Robert E. Hemenway Writing Center at the University of Kentucky. You gave me very specific and helpful feedback which challenged me to no end, but I am a better writer and professional for it.

I would be remiss if I did not thank Professor Austin Robinson for his support of not only this work, but also for me as a person. Thank you, Professor Robinson, for sharing your expertise about writing a program proposal and thank you for the consistent parallel writing time we shared. Even though few words were said between us, the words that we shared meant so much to me, and being in the presence of another human being was so important to my well-being. Additionally, many thanks go to Alaina Sheridan for your help with figuring out the mess that is formatting. You walked me through each step and set me up for success very early in the process which saved me from a lot of heartache later. Thank you to my colleagues and friends who read and provided peer review on various drafts of my chapters and prospectus: Zachary Robinson, Rebekah Spann, and Emma King. Your fresh eyes gave me new perspectives that I would not have found otherwise.

A big thank you also goes to my extended friends and family. I appreciate the times you checked in on my progress and gave me words of encouragement and listened to me rant about the various times I was stressed. In addition, and this may sound silly to some, but a huge thank you goes to my service dog, Daisy Mae. Daisy, you have been by my side for this entire process. You provided important reminders to take my medication and drink water and rest when I would go long periods of time without moving from my writing spot. Yes, you are a dog and therefore, cannot read this acknowledgement, but I want everyone to know how important you are and the role you played in the completion of this project. You will be awarded the imaginative degree of Master of Music in Puppy Music Therapy. Next, an important acknowledgement goes to my dad, Brian Buckner. Even though we may argue, you have always loved me and encouraged and supported

my pursuit of education and helping others. You taught me how to learn. Of the numerous adages you have said throughout my 26 years on this planet, one has become my guiding principle: "Be excellent one day at a time." The definition of "excellence" may vary based on the circumstance, but I work to embody this principle in all facets of my life.

Finally, to all the children who I have worked with, you have taught me so much about how to be my most authentic self. You give me more insight into growth and humanity. Thank you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	viii
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Personal Statement	1
1.2 Background	4
1.3 Theoretical Framework 1.3.1 Therapeutic Function of Music	5 7
1.4 Purpose	9
1.5 Glossary	9
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Music and Various Cognitive Skills	<i>12</i> 14
2.2 Music and Emotion Regulation 2.2.1 Music and Social Emotional Learning	<i>16</i> 19
2.3 Music Therapy and Inclusive Early Childhood Settings	
CHAPTER 3. METHODS	25
3.1 The Prospectus	
3.2 The Program Proposal	
3.3 Funding Identification	
3.3.1 Toyota	
3.4 Completing the Clinical Project	
CHAPTER 4. A GRANT PROPOSAL	
4.1 Organization Information	
4.2 Information Request	
4.3 Program Objectives 4.3.1 Program Beneficiaries	
- 4.4 Congressional Involvement	46
4.5 Payment Information	

CHAPTER 5. REFLECTION	
5.1 Barriers to Identifying a Funding Source	48
5.2 Insights	51
5.2.1 Academic Insights	
5.2.2 Professional Insights	
5.2.3 Personal Insights	53
5.3 Connections to the Theoretical Framework	54
5.4 Contributions to Music Therapy	56
5.4.1 Music Therapy and the Affirmative Model of Disability	57
5.5 Lessons Learned	58
5.6 Conclusion	59
APPENDICES	60
Appendix A: Program Proposal	60
Appendix B: Classroom Teacher Pre-Music Therapy Questionnaire	75
Appendix C: Mid-Semester Feedback Form	76
Appendix D: End-of-Semester Feedback Form	
Appendix E: Applying the Therapeutic Function of Music	
REFERENCES	84
VITA	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	21
Social Emotional Learning (SEL) Competencies, Definitions, and Music Therapy	
Examples	21
Table 2	38
ELC Classrooms and Session Times	38
Table 3	65
ELC Classrooms and Session Times	65
Table 4	66
Start-Up Budget (First Semester)	66
Table 5	67
Budget for the Second Semester of the New Music Therapy Program	67
Table 6	67
Annual Budget for Subsequent Years	67
Table 7	69
Materials Budget Estimate for Semester 1	69
Table 8	71
Musical Instrument Budget Estimate for Semester 1	71
Table 9	79
Therapeutic Function of Music Worksheet	79

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

This thesis is a clinical project and consists of a grant proposal to Toyota Motor Sales, Inc. U.S.A., specifically Toyota Motor Manufacturing, Kentucky, Inc. The grant proposal is for a comprehensive music therapy program at the Early Learning Center (ELC) at the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center in Lexington, Kentucky. The idea for this clinical project was inspired by my experiences at the ELC during my advanced clinical placement and my desire to work with children as a music therapist. The chapters in this clinical project are as follows: 1. Introduction, 2. Literature Review, 3. Methods, 4. Grant Proposal, and 5. Reflection. In this chapter, I have included a personal statement to address how my privilege and marginalization affect my practice; I describe a theoretical framework I have adopted for this project and explain the purpose behind this clinical project.

1.1 Personal Statement

My primary aspirational vision as a music therapist is "Accessible and equitable music therapy for a greater quality of life." My education and research have been tailored to this vision so that I may provide the best services possible to my communities. In order to do so, it is important to acknowledge my privilege and marginalization in life that may affect my internal and external biases.

I am a white, transgender, genderqueer lesbian. I grew up in a conservative twoparent household in Appalachia. During my upbringing, my family fluctuated between lower-middle socioeconomic status and upper-middle socioeconomic status. This gives me a unique perspective in that I know what it is like to experience both economic hardship and economic success. As an adult on a single income, I work as an independent music therapist, subcontracting with two music therapy businesses, and I have a handful of various side jobs so that I can make ends meet.¹ In addition to having a single income, I was a full-time graduate student from August 2020 to May 2023. In order to attend school, I was not able to work as much, and I do not dwell in a two-income household. This made going to school while trying to meet my financial needs an immense struggle. My experience with economic hardship has increased the empathy I have for my clients who are experiencing similar hardship.

Additionally, as a queer person, I experience both marginalization and community daily, both from strangers and my own relatives, and this affects how I practice as a music therapist. I implement queer-affirming and anti-racist views into my practice to best serve those in my communities. I do not want any of my clients to experience marginalization in the same way I have. I am also disabled, which affects how I view the world and how I practice as a music therapist.

The language surrounding disability is constantly changing. Throughout this clinical project, I will use identity-first language, which is based on a person's disability being integrated with and part of their identity. This definition is based on current practice of disabled self-advocates and disability literature.² While I recognize that

¹ According to Beauchamp and colleagues (2022), "Even though nearly 30% of US households are made up of solo dwellers... a woman living alone would need to earn 65% of a two-person's household income to reach the same standard of living as a hetero-married couple" (para. 1).

² For more information about identity-first language, please visit <u>https://autisticadvocacy.org/about-asan/identity-first-language/</u>

certain disabilities cause impairments, I am disabled by a neurotypical and non-disabled society. This lived experience aligns with the theoretical framework I have adopted for this project: the Affirmative Model of Disability (described in a later section). I am autistic and Hard-of-Hearing and part of the Deaf community.³ I find community within both identities, and they are central to how I view and interact with the world around me. My experiences in the world as a queer, autistic, and Hard-of-Hearing person heavily influenced why I chose to work with children and disabled people.

Young children are very open-minded and accepting by nature. They have less experience than older children, teens, and adults, which leads them to be open to learning new concepts (Lucas et al., 2014). It is not until they are exposed to bias, whether that be overtly or through observations in their environment, that they develop biases in favor of or against others (Skinner et al., 2020). This openness is one of the reasons why I enjoy working with children. As a queer, disabled person, I have had several neurotypical⁴ adults pass judgment on me and make assumptions without getting to know me or ask questions. In my experience, young children are less likely to do this and more likely to ask questions instead. These questions tend to come from a place of curiosity, not malice (Fusaro & Smith, 2018). Being my most authentic self in the workplace exposes my clients to different cultures and identities that they may not otherwise have the chance to learn about. Although my experiences as a disabled person, specifically autistic and

³ The capitalization of "Hard-of-Hearing" and "Deaf" here is intentional. For more information about Deaf culture and community, please visit <u>https://bit.ly/44qbRLO</u> (National Association of the Deaf)

⁴ For more information about the neurodiversity paradigm, please visit <u>https://www.disabled-world.com/disability/awareness/neurodiversity/</u>

Hard-of-Hearing, is different from others' lived experiences, I can relate to my clients in a way that other professionals may not be able to. Because the Early Learning Center at the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center specializes in teaching children communication skills, several of the children that attend the center are autistic, deaf/hardof-hearing,⁵ or have a communication disability. These shared life experiences have been very helpful in connecting with the children because they are able to communicate their needs with me. Someone who does not have these identities would not understand their communication needs from lived experience. I understand how they communicate, and we work together to meet their needs. This clinical project is a direct result of my experience with the children at the ELC. A comprehensive music therapy program at the ELC at the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center would support the children's developmental needs. The following section gives a background on the center and their history with music therapy.

1.2 Background

The Lexington Hearing and Speech Center, established in 1960, has an inclusive Early Learning Center that supports the development of approximately 160 children, ages 6 weeks to 5 years, in 13 classrooms. This ELC caters to the diverse needs of both nondisabled and disabled children. Their mission is "for children to leave HSC [Hearing and Speech Center] with the language and independence to be active participants in their

⁵ "deaf" and "hard-of-hearing" are lowercase here because I am referring to the physical diagnosis, not the cultural identity.

community" (The Hearing & Speech Center, 2020, para. 4). The disabled children at the center mostly have disabilities that relate to speech and communication.

According to the Director of the ELC, a music therapist previously provided music therapy to the ELC at the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center through grant funding, which they no longer receive. In the 2022-2023 academic year, they received services from myself and the two practicum students that I supervised from the University of Kentucky at no cost to the center. As a board-certified music therapist, I began providing music therapy to the center during my graduate clinical placement, when I supervised two practicum students. As a graduate teaching assistant and practicum supervisor, I continued to provide music therapy services along with a practicum student for four classes at the Hearing and Speech Center once a week until May 5, 2023. Although the University of Kentucky Music Therapy Program may be able to provide intermittent music therapy practicum-based services in the future, a regular, ongoing, comprehensive music therapy program would support the developmental needs of all the children at the center. In the next section, I describe the theoretical framework I adopted to complete this clinical project and develop a program to fulfill the needs of the children at the Early Learning Center.

1.3 Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework for this project was the Affirmative Model of Disability (Swain & French, 2000), and I utilized the Therapeutic Function of Music framework (Hanson-Abromeit, 2015) to inform the development of the music therapy program. The Affirmative Model of Disability was developed as an antithesis to the personal tragedy model of disability (i.e., a tragedy to be cured; Harris, 2000) and in response to the Social Model of Disability (i.e., people are disabled by barriers in their society, not by physical barriers; Shakespeare, 2010; Swain & French, 2000). According to Shakespeare (2010), the Social Model of Disability began with the Union of Physically Impaired Against Segregation (UPIAS). UPIAS urged segregated places (i.e., places that were inaccessible to disabled people) to make changes so that disabled individuals could fully integrate in society and have autonomy over their own lives. UPIAS (1974) asserted that there is a distinct difference between disability and impairment. Disability is "social exclusion," whereas impairment is "physical limitation" (Shakespeare, 2010, p. 267). Rickson (2014) also acknowledged that people may have physical or mental impairments, but disability is caused by environmental, attitudinal, and social obstacles established by society that limit integration and living to one's highest potential.

The Affirmative Model of Disability, first written about by Swain and French (2000), builds on the Social Model and extends beyond consideration of societal barriers. The Affirmative Model asserts that while societal structure is indeed disabling to those with various impairments, even if all these various barriers were removed, impairments would still impact the disabled individual in some way (Cameron, 2010; McCormack & Collins, 2010; Rickson, 2014; Swain & French, 2000). However, these impairments do not always impact the individual negatively. Rickson (2014) indicated that people who use the Affirmative Model describe impairment as something that can be difficult and painful while also providing value. Those who apply the Affirmative Model also conceptualize disability as a socially marginalized identity, and that disabled people often

find community in this identity (Rickson, 2014). This quote from Rickson (2014) sums it up best: "The Affirmative Model is about validating the lives and experiences of people with impairments and enabling them to make sense of themselves as actors in their own cultural worlds" (para. 8).

The Affirmative Model of Disability is appropriate for this clinical project because it aligns with the mission of the ELC ("for children to leave HSC with the language and independence to be active participants in their community"), and the children and the teachers appear to adhere to this model implicitly (The Hearing & Speech Center, 2020, para. 4). In my observations, they celebrate the differences of the disabled children while also affirming that there are some challenges, thus validating all parts of their experiences. The Affirmative Model is how I live my own life as an autistic and Hard-of-Hearing person. While I am disabled by the barriers in the world around me, even if those barriers were gone, I would still have some difficulties meeting all my needs. This informs how I live my life and practice as a music therapist. Thus, the Affirmative Model of Disability not only aligns with the center but also my practice as a music therapist at the center.

1.3.1 Therapeutic Function of Music

While the Affirmative Model of Disability does provide a theoretical framework for designing a program for disabled children, it does not provide information or a model on the use of music in said program. The Therapeutic Function of Music framework is the why, what, and how music, and its specific musical elements, are used in a certain setting to achieve therapeutic goals (Hanson-Abromeit, 2015). I utilized this framework to develop the music therapy component of this project, in conjunction with the Affirmative Model of Disability. The Therapeutic Function of Music framework begins with identifying a problem statement (i.e., clinical question or goal) which includes stating a rationale for music therapy. The next step after identifying a problem statement is defining the elements of music in context (rhythm, tempo, melody, pitch, dynamics, harmony, style, lyrics, form, and timbre).

After defining the elements of music, the theoretical framework for the clinical use of musical elements becomes very important. According to the Therapeutic Function of Music framework (Hanson-Abromeit, 2015), the theoretical framework is "why" each element of music theoretically supports the clinical goal(s) and is grounded in research about music and musical behavior. After identifying "why" each element is important to music therapy at the center, the next component of the framework is to identify "what" each element will do in context (i.e., a hypothesis). This is the purpose of each musical element. The purpose of each element is built on the problem statement and the theoretical framework.

After identifying the "why" and "what" of each element, the next step is to use logic to articulate "how" to use and implement each element of music to address the goal areas. This description of the musical element builds on the problem statement, theoretical framework, and the purpose of each musical element. The final step is to combine this information into a theory-based synthesis, which is essentially an evidencebased guide for creating and implementing music experiences. I learned this process, the Therapeutic Function of Music by Hanson-Abromeit (2015), from assignments in three music therapy courses at the University of Kentucky: MUS 430G: Music Therapy Foundations and Principles I, MUS 431G: Music Therapy Foundations and Principles II, and MUS 633: Graduate Clinical Placement. I used this process specifically when I created the program proposal for the Early Learning Center (refer to Appendix A). An example of this process for one of the preschool classes I worked with in Fall 2022 can be found in Appendix E. The name of the class has been changed to protect the children's privacy.

1.4 Purpose

The purpose of this clinical project was to develop a comprehensive music therapy program for the Early Learning Center at the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center and a grant proposal to fund this program. In the next chapter, I review literature regarding the use of music and music therapy in early childhood, which informed the development of this program.

1.5 Glossary

I have included a list of terms that are related to this clinical project. These terms are important to know when creating a program proposal, particularly for the Early Learning Center at the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center, and when acquiring funds. **501I(3) number**: A 501I(3) number is a unique number used to identify a type of non-profit organization. Non-profit organizations that have this number "may be considered public charities, private foundations, or private operating foundations" and are often tax-exempt (Foundation Group, Inc., 1995-2023).

Cochlear Implant: A cochlear implant is an electronic device used to deliver sound signals to the auditory nerve via an external processor worn behind the ear and a surgically implanted receiver (Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research, 2022a).

Emotion Regulation (ER): ER describes how a person returns to an emotional homeostasis after changes in emotion. The emotion is an indicator "that equilibrium is disrupted" (Sena Moore & Hanson-Abromeit, 2015, p. 572).

Hearing Aid: A hearing aid is an electronic device worn in the ear to amplify sound. All hearing aids have a microphone, amplifier, speaker, and battery. Some hearing aids have more components than others. Sound enters the hearing aid through microphones. Then the amplifier converts the "sound into a digital code," and then "the amplified signals are then converted back into sound waves and delivered to your ears through speakers, sometimes called receivers" (Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research, 2022b).

Identity-First Language: Saying the person's disability first (i.e., autistic person, Deaf person, Hard-of-Hearing person). Identity-first language is often used as a sign of culture surrounding the disability and taking pride in disability as a core part of one's identity (Ryf, 2023; Sibley, 2013).

Non-profit organization: "A nonprofit organization is a business that has been granted tax-exempt status by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) because it furthers a social cause and provides a public benefit" (Kenton, 2023, para. 1).

Person-First Language: "puts the person before their disability or condition. The theory here is that someone is a person first and not defined by their disability" (Ryf, 2023, para. 4).

Request for Proposals: "document that describes a project's needs and asks for proposed solutions from qualified vendors" (Peters, 2011, para. 1).

Social Emotional Learning: First used in 1994, the term "social emotional learning" (SEL) refers to the ability to maintain positive social relationships; identify, label, and regulate emotions; set goals; make responsible choices; and show empathy towards others (Varádi, 2022).

CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

The literature surrounding early childhood development is expansive and dates back to the early 1900s (Manny, 1910; Piaget & Cartalis, 1928). Current literature about early childhood development includes topics ranging from cognitive skills and reading interventions to behavioral and emotional disorders to parental bonding and social skills (Kucirkova & Tolsum, 2023; Tesson et al., 2022; Thümmler et al., 2022). A common tool that can be used to address all of these skills is music (Humpal, 2018).

Music serves many roles, from entertainment to enriching childhood development. According to Gordon's Music Learning Model (2012), at as early as two weeks old, an infant with typical hearing will stop moving when they hear a sound, regardless of what that sound is. By two months old, infants can focus their attention when being sung to. By the age of six months, infants can move their whole body to music (Gordon, 2012; Humpal, 2018; Schwartz, 2008). In addition to the bodily responses to music, the effects of music on various cognitive skills related to speech and reading have been studied by several researchers. Some of these findings will be summarized in this chapter, along with information about music and emotion regulation and music therapy and inclusive early childhood settings.

2.1 Music and Various Cognitive Skills

Researchers have concluded that music and improved cognition are highly correlated (Bergman Nutley et al., 2014; Flaugnacco et al., 2015). Bergman Nutley and colleagues (2014) conducted a longitudinal study and concluded that children who engaged in music activities, such as playing an instrument, had increased word processing speed, working memory, and reasoning ability. While this finding does not provide information about causation, the statistically significant positive correlation indicates the need for future study of music's influence on word processing speed, working memory, and reasoning ability.

Several researchers have examined the influence of music training on communication skills. Zhau and Kuhl (2016) conducted a study with 9-month-old infants and found that the infants randomly assigned to the music intervention condition had improved event-related potentials (ERPs, "very small voltages generated in the brain structures in response to specific events or stimuli," Sur & Sinha, 2009, p. 70) and enhanced temporal processing of speech when compared to infants who did not complete the music intervention. Another randomized controlled study, conducted by Flaugnacco and colleagues (2015), tested the hypothesis "that music training should boost temporal processing at different time scales and this may have in turn a positive impact on phonological awareness and reading abilities in children with dyslexia" (p. 2). While these participants were older children (8-10 years), results of this study suggest that music training at an early age may impact reading and phonological skills later in childhood (Flaugnacco et al., 2015). Furthermore, Tierney and Kraus (2014) reported the following:

There is *overlap* between the neural networks that process timing in the context of both music and language. Entrainment to music demands more *precise* timing sensitivity than does language processing. Moreover, auditory-motor timing

13

integration captures the *emotion* of the trainee, is *repeatedly* practiced, and demands focused *attention* (p. 949; emphasis in original).

Taken together, the rhythmic nature of music seems to facilitate development and improvement of phonological skills and other reading skills. One can build on such findings to develop and implement music-based interventions in early childhood. An ongoing study that uses music interventions to continue this line of research (i.e., music's influence on ERPs) and learning disabilities such as dyslexia is DyslexiaBaby at the University of Helsinki, which will be described in detail in the next section.

2.1.1 Music, Language, and Communication Development

DyslexiaBaby is an ongoing study that is conducted by a research group at the University of Helsinki (2023). During this study, infants between birth and six months of age are pseudo-randomized into one of three groups: instrumental music-listening intervention, vocal music-listening intervention, and no music intervention (control group; Virtala & Partanen, 2018). Six months following the intervention, researchers test the infants' auditory ERPs (i.e., brain responses to sounds). When the infant is 30 months old, the ERPs are tested again along with a thorough language and cognitive development assessment (Virtala & Partanen, 2018).

In contrast to findings from other studies discussed previously (Flaugnacco et al., 2015; Tierney & Kraus, 2014; Zhau & Kuhl, 2016), initial results from DyslexiaBaby indicate that the music intervention does not significantly affect auditory ERPs or prelanguage development. However, based on the parent report portion of the study, there appears to be a highly positive correlation between informal music and language experiences at home (e.g., singing, reading books, listening to music) and pre-language development as well as musical play and auditory ERPs (Virtala & Partanen, 2018). These findings suggest that engaging in these activities regularly with their caregivers may facilitate infants' ability to process the sounds around them.

Putkinen and colleagues (2012) also supported this finding. They found that children with more informal music activities in the home were less distractible, had a "heightened sensitivity to temporal acoustic changes," and were better able to detect "more mature auditory change" (Putkinen et al., 2012, p. 654). Infants were also able to maintain eye-contact and orient to parents more while entraining to the steady beat of music and while being sung to (Lense et al., 2022).

Research has also supported the use of music in language development in children with cochlear implants and hearing aids. Welch and colleagues (2015) conducted a pilot study and found that after receiving specialized singing instruction in a school-based setting for 20 weeks, children with typical hearing and children who use cochlear implants or hearing aids displayed statistically significant improvements in pitch perception. Enhanced pitch perception facilitates pitch discrimination and identifying certain sounds, such as those needed to understand spoken language or interpret environmental sounds (Oxenham, 2008). Moreover, when children receive music services with "active, social engagement," children are more likely to benefit from improved preverbal language development (Virtala & Paranen, 2018, p. 93). In conjunction with evidence from other related literature, Welch and colleagues (2015), concluded that all children "should have extended and rich musical experiences, both formally in school settings as well as informally in the home, pre-school and subsequently" (p. S70).

Collectively, this body of research indicates that during the early years of life, music plays a role in language and communication development, cognitive development, and motor coordination, and it seems important for young children to be regularly engaged in music. Music engagement also appears to facilitate physiological and emotion regulation as evidenced by the literature in the next section.

2.2 Music and Emotion Regulation

Music facilitates emotion regulation (ER), which describes how a person returns to an emotional homeostasis after changes in emotion. The emotion is an indicator "that equilibrium is disrupted" (Sena Moore & Hanson-Abromeit, 2015, p. 572). Moreover, ER typically develops in three stages: "(1) simple physiologic and reflexive responses, (2) caregiver-directed co-regulatory strategies or the use of simple attentional and motor strategies, and (3) active and intentional self-regulation of emotions" (Sena Moore & Hanson-Abromeit, 2015, p. 572). Children tend to develop awareness of both positive and negative ER strategies around 3- to 5-years-old (Cole et al., 2009). However, children begin developing these skills unknowingly during infancy, and the development and implementation of these skills is highly influenced by caregiver involvement (Cole et al., 2009; Sena Moore & Hanson-Abromeit, 2015).

Both children with emotionally distant caregivers and children with overly involved caregivers are less likely to be able to self-regulate their emotions. They have either not been exposed to healthy self-regulation, or they have not been given the opportunity to practice self-regulation (Cole et al., 2009). Cole and colleagues (2009) reported "that optimal parenting involves both a warm acceptance of a child's emotions and guidance in how to manage emotions" (p. 326). While the authors of the previous article discussed parenting, much of this information can be generalized to anyone involved in caregiving and nurturing children, and music is a great tool to help children develop ER skills (Schwartz, 2008; Sena Moore, 2013; Sena Moore & Hanson-Abromeit, 2015).

In a systematic review, Sena Moore (2013) found that music can activate certain parts of the brain that underlie physiological and ER (e.g., orbitofrontal cortex, prefrontal cortex) based on its emotional relevance (or the lack thereof) to the listener. Physiologically, music can help regulate bodily responses, such as changing heart and respiration rates to the musical beat in times of distress, which may facilitate a sense of comfort (Edgar, 2019; Schwartz, 2008). Music also provides structured and predictable auditory stimulation that can be manipulated to increase tolerance for various sensory stimuli (Schwartz, 2008). Because music influences physiological responses, provides opportunities to do things together, and opportunities to self-direct, it offers direct opportunities to support ER development (Sena Moore & Hanson-Abromeit, 2015; 2018).

Sena Moore & Hanson-Abromeit (2018) conducted a mixed methods study to test the effectiveness and feasibility of the Musical Contour Regulation Facilitation intervention to promote ER development in preschoolers. This intervention allowed preschoolers the space to actively practice ER strategies through music experiences. The authors concluded that the children who received the intervention demonstrated improved ER skills. Specifically, teachers noticed that the children expressed their emotions after participating in the intervention, and that those emotions were lower in arousal. Teachers also perceived less "emotional lability, emotion reactivity, and externalizing problems" (Sena Moore & Hanson-Abromeit, 2018, p. 432).

In 2022, Zhang and colleagues (2022) conducted a randomized controlled study that revealed group improvisational music therapy had a statistically significant impact on ER and depression. Although this study was conducted with college students, results showed that participants who engaged in active music making demonstrated improved ER and decreased depression. For children, Schwartz (2008) indicated that music helps them have confidence about their place in society, connecting them to their culture and community. Music is essential to community building and developing a sense of cultural identity. ER has also been positively correlated with greater well-being and higher socioeconomic status into adulthood and is an important skill throughout life because it impacts one's ability to engage in social relationships (Côté et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2022).

It seems that supporting ER with music in early childhood may have important effects that could carry into adulthood. One example regards the use of music to support behavioral self-regulation. In a quasi-randomized, longitudinal study, Lo and colleagues (2022) found that children with hearing impairments (like many of the children at the Hearing and Speech Center) demonstrated significantly more behavioral and emotional symptoms of poor psychosocial well-being and lower health-related quality of life than children without hearing impairment. The researchers found that participating in 12weeks of group music activities helped counteract some of these risks to psychosocial well-being. The children with sensorineural hearing loss, a type of hearing loss in which the inner ear is damaged (ASHA, 2023), demonstrated significantly reduced emotional (e.g., worry) and peer (e.g., friendships) problems as well as hyperactivity and conduct problems (e.g., fighting; as measured by the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire) after participating in group music activities. In other words, participating in a music group led to better psychosocial well-being, and the children with hearing loss ended up with similar scores as their peers by the conclusion of the music groups. While music training did not significantly influence health-related quality of life, these results suggest that group music activities may have clinically meaningful benefit to psychosocial wellbeing and behavioral self-regulation for this population that could carry into adulthood (Lo et al., 2022).

2.2.1 Music and Social Emotional Learning

Social emotional learning is a concept that is intimately related to ER. First used in 1994, the term "social emotional learning" (SEL) refers to the ability to maintain positive social relationships; identify, label, and regulate emotions; set goals; make responsible choices; and show empathy towards others (Varádi, 2022). According to the Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL, 2023), there are five SEL competencies: *self-awareness, social awareness, responsible decision making, self-management*, and *relationship skills*. Self-awareness includes identifying and labeling emotions, experiencing a sense of self-efficacy, and acknowledging spiritual beliefs. Social awareness is all about how someone gets along with the society around them. Diversity, empathy, and respect are all values of social awareness. Responsible decision-making includes identifying problems, problem solving, and personal responsibility. After identifying and labeling the emotion one is feeling, they can selfregulate and exhibit self-control, organizational skills, and stress management skills. Relationship skills are all about how someone maintains relationships with others specific to their role in the relationship. Similar to social awareness, relationship skills are more specific; social awareness is generalized to someone's place in society (CASEL, 2023).

Music engagement has the potential to facilitate all aspects of SEL (Edgar, 2019). According to Southwell (2016), expressive therapies (a term used to describe art, music, dance, drama, and poetry therapies collectively) reinforce the capacity for secure attachment and development of ER, self-efficacy, and relationship skills. Infants approximate the steady beat by clapping their hands (i.e., self-awareness and selfmanagement). Preschoolers can take turns during music activities and demonstrate listening to their classmates by copying their movements (i.e., relationship skills, selfawareness, responsible decision-making). Students must be aware of their body and surroundings when engaging in movement activities, playing instruments, and singing so as not to hurt themselves or others physically or by singing/playing too loudly or aggressively (i.e., self-awareness and self-management). Students can also demonstrate self-management skills by regulating their emotions during musical cool down activities when feeling overwhelmed. Refer to Table 1 for an organized view of the SEL competencies, definitions, and music therapy examples.

Table 1

Social Emotional Learning (SEL) Competencies, Definitions, and Music Therapy

Exc	ımr	oles
LN	mp	ics

SEL Competency	Definition ¹	Music Therapy Example ²
Self- Awareness	 Identifying and labeling emotions Experiencing a sense of self-efficacy Acknowledging spiritual beliefs 	 Infants approximate the steady beat of the music by clapping their hands. Children decide whether they want to listen to fast or slow music (self-efficacy because children are proud of themselves for making a decision).
Self- Management	 Exhibit self-regulation Exhibit self-control Exhibit organizational skills Exhibit stress-management skills 	 Infants approximate the steady beat of the music by clapping their hands. Children demonstrate self-regulation during cool-down music activities.
Responsible Decision- Making	 Identifying problems Problem-solving Taking personal responsibility 	• Children decide whether they want to listen to fast or slow music.
Social Awareness	• How someone gets along with the society around them	• Children take turns choosing finger puppets during music interventions.
Relationship Skills	• How someone maintains relationships with others <i>specific to</i> <i>their role in the</i> <i>relationship</i>	• Children take turns choosing finger puppets during music interventions.

Note. 1. Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL), 2023. 2.

Some examples include more than one SEL competency and will be repeated next to each

competency they include. These examples come from my own experience as a music

therapist at the Early Learning Center and are informed by the Therapeutic Function of Music (Hanson-Abromeit, 2015). Each of these activities is facilitated by the music therapist who designs interventions with specific SEL competencies in mind.

Social and emotional skills are vital to expressing basic needs, communicating with others, and adjusting to change in childhood and throughout life. Children who are preschool age or younger are just in the beginning of their social and emotional learning. They often struggle with impulse control, self-regulation, and communication. Infants, toddlers, and preschool-aged children all engage in "attention-seeking" behaviors. These behaviors can be attributed to a child's desire to seek positive connections with others (Southwell, 2016). Considering the goals of the Early Learning Center, the development of toddlers and preschoolers, and the role music can play in effectively supporting social and emotional development, a comprehensive and inclusive music therapy program should support SEL development (Bunt, 2016; Edgar, 2019; K. Smart, personal communication, February 2, 2023; Varádi, 2022).

In addition to providing general support to child development, music experiences can offer valuable developmental support to children with hearing impairments in inclusive settings. With regards to preschool-aged cochlear implant users, Gfeller and colleagues (2013) reported, "With suitable accommodations, and developmentallyappropriate objectives, most implanted children can enjoy and successfully participate in some types of musical activity" (p. 44). This allows for more seamless integration and inclusion with their hearing peers and the hearing society at large. While music engagement in general is important to childhood development and inclusion, music therapists are specifically trained to leverage musical elements and design goal-oriented music experiences that can address the development of non-musical skills in therapeutic and inclusive settings, such as the Early Learning Center.

2.3 Music Therapy and Inclusive Early Childhood Settings

Music therapy is the use of music by a credentialed music therapist to address non-musical goals within a therapeutic relationship, including cognitive skills, socialemotional skills, language and communication skills, and fine/gross motor skills (American Music Therapy Association, 1998-2023). Music therapy in early childhood involves a music therapist creating and implementing music interventions and experiences to help children achieve developmental milestones (Humpal, 2018). Auditory skills begin developing in a fetus as young as 18 weeks' gestation, and musical detection skills are documented at as young as two months old, which means that music is an appropriate therapeutic medium for this age group (Schwartz, 2008; Standley & Walworth, 2010). Music therapists consider musical development when planning interventions so that the children can be the most successful.

Music therapists use their knowledge of how children cultivate musical skills to aid the development of other skills in the domain areas of cognition, language and communication, fine and gross motor skills, and socio-emotional skills (Humpal, 2018). Because of the nature of music and child development, Humpal (2018) concluded the following: Developmentally appropriate music therapy acknowledges the young child's world is permeated by playful use of music that not only builds music awareness and skills, but is also a powerful tool for addressing non-music goals in an enjoyable, meaningful, and effective manner (p. 172).

For example, in a preschool music therapy session that includes children with hearing loss, a music therapist would purposefully design and implement music interventions with repetitive opportunities to practice phonemes, vocabulary words, and turn-taking to facilitate language and communication development (Gfeller et al., 2013; Register et al., 2012) and make accommodations based on knowledge of the characteristics of the specific type of hearing loss (Gfeller et al., 2013) – a central focus of the Early Learning Center (The Hearing & Speech Center, 2020).

The Early Learning Center supports the development of approximately 160 children annually, ages 6 weeks-Kindergarten in 13 classrooms. This Early Learning Center caters to the diverse needs of both non-disabled and disabled children. Their mission is "for children to leave HSC with the language and independence to be active participants in their community" (The Hearing & Speech Center, 2020, para. 4). As based on the literature provided in this chapter, a comprehensive music therapy program would enhance this inclusive environment by supporting the developmental needs of all the children in the preschool. The following chapter is a detailed description of the steps required to complete this clinical project. Some of those steps include the following: writing a prospectus, drafting a program proposal, identifying an appropriate funding source, completing a grant application, and drafting a clinical project.
CHAPTER 3. METHODS

The idea for this project was originally conceived during the Fall semester of 2022 in MUS 633: Graduate Clinical Placement in Music Therapy. I was offered the opportunity to complete my practicum hours at the Early Learning Center (ELC) at the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center in Lexington, KY. I thoroughly enjoyed working with the children during my practicum, and the teachers often expressed how much they enjoyed me coming to their classes. Some of the teachers from the classrooms that I did not work with approached me to ask why they didn't receive music therapy services. In addition to the developmental benefits articulated in Chapter 2, these experiences further demonstrated an interest in a comprehensive music therapy program at the ELC. This chapter documents how I wrote the program and grant proposals for the comprehensive music therapy program at the ELC and how I completed this clinical project.

3.1 The Prospectus

As stated, the idea for this clinical project was first formed during Fall 2022. In January 2023, I began formulating my prospectus. This process involved drafting, regular feedback from my committee chair, and revision. This prospectus included a brief literature review, theoretical framework, proposed methods and timeline of project milestones, and a list of potential pitfalls and possible solutions. The prospectus was approved June 12, 2023. While writing the prospectus, I worked on creating the ELC program proposal that would be used in the grant proposal.

3.2 The Program Proposal

The initial ELC program proposal draft was an assignment for MUS 630: Medical Music Therapy. Although the ELC is not a medical setting, music therapy is used to enhance the well-being of the children at the center. I received feedback on this initial draft proposal from my professor.

After refining and expanding the program proposal draft, I met with a local music therapy business owner who has experience creating grant-funded music therapy programs. I utilized their feedback to further refine the ELC program proposal. I then sent the program proposal and budget to the Director of the ELC on June 14, 2023. When I did not receive a response from the Director by August 10, 2023, I sent these documents to the Assistant Director of the ELC but did not receive a response from them either.

The final ELC program proposal (refer to Appendix A) includes a statement of need, a brief literature review, an approach (how I would execute the program), a budget, and a budget justification. In the statement of need, I provide background about the ELC and why the children at the ELC benefit from music therapy. I then support this need through the literature review. The approach includes a structure of what occurs during a typical session and a list of classes and session durations for each class. Briefly, a typical session uses the following structure: musical opening/welcome, movement intervention, primary music intervention(s), cool down musical intervention, and musical goodbye/closing. All classes meet twice per week for a duration that is developmentally appropriate (i.e., shorter for younger children, longer for older children), and interventions address the goals and objectives identified for each class (e.g.,

developmentally appropriate social emotional and communication skills). The budget and budget justification describe how much money is needed to fund the program and includes a music therapist salary, materials, and instruments. A list of classes, ages, and session length and frequency and the total budget are provided in Chapter 4. Detailed program information can be found in Appendix A and a detailed budget is in Appendix B. After creating the program, I began searching for appropriate grant funding.

3.3 Funding Identification

Identifying appropriate funding began with a general search using Google and a search using the University of Kentucky's Office of Philanthropy's "Find Funders" webbased tool. I used terms such as "philanthropic grants," "music," "music therapy," and "music education." I used phrases such as "grants for preschools" and more specific phrases like "grants for music therapy in preschools." The results in Google were very broad and took me to several grants databases, such as The Grant Portal (Promero, Inc., 2023). In addition to online searching, I also asked my committee chair for recommendations. Some of her suggestions included learning who funds other non-profits, disability organizations, and early childhood organizations in the area. The local business owner who gave me feedback on my program proposal mentioned that Toyota awards grants and that one of their contracts pays for music therapy using that grant.

Next, I looked up two disability organizations online: Down Syndrome Association of Central Kentucky (2022) and Family Voices (2023). I learned about Down Syndrome Association of Central Kentucky from one of my voice students who has Down Syndrome, and I found Family Voices by looking at the Kentucky Disability Resource Guide (Human Development Institute, University of Kentucky, 2023). Family Voices values inclusion, social justice, self-advocacy, and family engagement. After looking at these values and exploring their website more, I concluded that Family Voices holds values that align with my own and with the theoretical framework for this project, the Affirmative Model of Disability (Family Voices, 2023). On July 6, 2023, I sent the following email through their contact portal:

Good afternoon,

My name is Elliott Buckner, and I am a Board-Certified Music Therapist and graduate student at the University of Kentucky. My thesis is a clinical project. This clinical project is to write a grant proposal for a comprehensive and inclusive music therapy program at a local early learning center here in Lexington for children ages 6 weeks old through kindergarten. I am reaching out to ask if you have any grant applications. The program I am proposing fits well within your mission of inclusion and helping families of children with disabilities. I found your organization on a list of advocacy organizations. If you do not have any grant applications, I would greatly appreciate any resources you can give regarding finding funding. Thank you for your time.

Best regards,

Elliott

After reaching out to Family Voices (who I did not hear back from), I looked at the Down Syndrome Association of Central Kentucky website to gain more insight about that organization. According to their website, this association aims to support, educate, and celebrate those with Down syndrome. The inclusive nature of my program proposal supports all disabled children, regardless of disability status or label. As such, I sent the following email to their Medical and Community Outreach Coordinator on July 18, 2023:

Good morning [redacted],

My name is Elliott Buckner, and I am a Board-Certified Music Therapist and graduate student at the University of Kentucky. My thesis is a clinical project. This clinical project is to write a grant proposal for a comprehensive and inclusive music therapy program at The Early Learning Center at The Lexington Hearing and Speech Center for children ages 6 weeks old through kindergarten. I am reaching out to ask if you have any grant applications, and I am emailing you specifically because you are listed as the community outreach person. The program I am proposing fits well within your mission of helping families of children with Down syndrome and your vision of inclusion. I found your organization on a list of advocacy organizations. If you do not have any grant applications, I would greatly appreciate any resources you can give regarding finding funding. Thank you for your time.

Best regards,

Elliott

The Coordinator responded the next day. Because the Down Syndrome Association of Central Kentucky is a non-profit organization, they do not offer grant funding. However, they expressed interest and willingness to partner with me on a grant proposal in the future.

3.3.1 Toyota

After researching funding through these two organizations, I Googled "Toyota grants." As mentioned previously, I knew Toyota awarded grant funding after talking with a colleague who provides music therapy services at a similar early childhood center that are funded by this company's community grants program. The first Google search result was the overview website for grant application guidelines and instructions (Toyota Motor Sales, U.S.A., Inc., 2022a). I found the specific page for Kentucky (Toyota Motor Sales, U.S.A., Inc. 2022b) where I found "Toyota's Mission in North America:"

At Toyota, we believe an auto company can also be a vehicle for change. That's why Toyota is proud to partner with nonprofit organizations across the U.S. in the local communities where we live and work. Toyota and affiliates support programs in key areas:

Primary

- Education Special consideration is given to STEM programs as we continue to develop our future workforce.
- Inclusive Mobility Connecting people to opportunities by developing inclusive mobility solutions.
- Community Resilience Building resilience by investing in needs required to thrive, specifically relating to environmental sustainability and driver/passenger safety.

Secondary

- Health and Human Services
- Arts and Culture

• Civic and Community

Youth and diversity are key priorities. Toyota also prefers to support programbased requests, but on occasion will support fundraising activities where most of proceeds go directly to the organization (Toyota Motor Sales, U.S.A., Inc., 2022, section 1)

The comprehensive music therapy program I developed for the ELC aligns well with Toyota's mission and supports advancement in all of the secondary program areas, which will be explained in more detail in Chapter 4 (refer also to Appendix A).

3.3.2 The Grant Application

The application to the Toyota grant required a tax identification number to access the application. As a sole proprietor, I do not have an appropriate tax identification number. However, the Associate Director of Foundation and Corporate Philanthropy gave me the University of Kentucky Research Foundation's 501(c)3 number so that I could make an account with Toyota to look at the grant requirements and application questions. It is important to note that I cannot submit the application while using this account because it lists the University of Kentucky Research Foundation as the non-profit organization, and I am not partnering with this organization on a grant.

The Associate Director of Foundation and Corporate Philanthropy also emailed me a comprehensive list of questions from the grant application in a Word document. I reviewed these questions while looking at the grant application in the portal. As they are the same exact questions, I opted to work from this Word document instead of the portal so there was no chance of making any mistakes while logged in using the University of Kentucky Research Foundation's 501(c)3 number.

3.4 Completing the Clinical Project

This section describes the process of how I wrote my clinical project. This is included because the clinical project itself was the process of completing both the ELC program proposal and the grant proposal. Writing the final draft was an ongoing process that began as soon as the prospectus was approved. While I waited for feedback on my program proposal, I began working on Chapter 2, the literature review. Most of the literature review is from the prospectus. However, I expanded on all sections to provide more support for this type of comprehensive music therapy program. I particularly focused on literature pertaining to music, cognitive, language and communication, and social emotional development, and the intersection of these developmental areas. After completing a rough draft of this chapter, I sent the draft of Chapter 2 to a peer for review, then to my committee chair, and then to the Robert E. Hemenway Writing Center at the University of Kentucky. The order in which I received feedback was based on the availability of my peers, committee chair, and the staff at the writing center. My committee chair provided in-depth feedback on each chapter, which I applied before turning in the completed draft of my clinical project.

While I awaited feedback on Chapter 2, I began writing Chapters 1, 3, 4, and 5. The grant proposal (Chapter 4) presented the greatest challenge because of the formatting and language used in the questions. I had to consult my committee chair about verbiage pertaining to taxes, payment, and other legal information. Chapter 4 was also a key focus of this clinical project, which is why most of my time was spent writing that chapter and the program proposal (refer to Appendix A).

After a staff tutor at Robert E. Hemenway Writing Center provided feedback on my literature review, I spent time applying their comments, edits, and revisions. Their feedback was strictly related to my writing and how I presented the literature. I applied this process of receiving feedback (peer-review, feedback from my committee chair and the Robert E. Hemenway Writing Center) to Chapters 1, 2, and 5.

In the next chapter, I present the full grant proposal to Toyota. The grant proposal includes essential information about the organization and program proposal, such as the mission statement, history, and financial details of the organization. I also include the targets, objectives, and budget for the proposed program.

CHAPTER 4. A GRANT PROPOSAL

This chapter is a grant proposal for a music therapy program at the Early Learning Center at the Hearing and Speech Center in Lexington, Kentucky, and it is directed to Toyota Motor Manufacturing, Kentucky, Inc. The Toyota grant application is an online portal with each question or section of questions on a separate webpage. For clarity and formatting purposes in the context of a thesis, I have reformatted the grant application using numbered lists under the corresponding application portal headings. Although the grant application does not call for a detailed music therapy program proposal, I have provided it in Appendix A.

4.1 Organization Information

This section contains information about the non-profit organization for which the grant is being requested. For the purposes of this clinical project, I will use the information from the target community non-profit organization and myself as the primary contact.

- 1. Legal Name: The Early Learning Center
- 2. Parent Organization: The Hearing and Speech Center
- 3. DBA Name: The Early Learning Center
- 4. Address 1: 350 Henry Clay Boulevard
- 5. City: Lexington
- 6. State: Kentucky
- 7. Zip: 40502
- 8. Main Phone: (859) 268-4545

- 9. Main Email: refer to contact web form (<u>https://hscky.org/who-we-are/location/</u>)
- 10. Website: https://hscky.org/education/
- 11. Mission Statement and History:

The Lexington Hearing and Speech Center, established in 1960, has an inclusive Early Learning Center that supports the development of approximately 160 children, ages 6 weeks to 5 years, in 13 classrooms. This Early Learning Center caters to the diverse needs of both non-disabled and disabled children. Their mission is "for children to leave HSC [Hearing and Speech Center] with the language and independence to be active participants in their community" (The Hearing & Speech Center, 2020, para. 4). The disabled children at the center mostly have disabilities that relate to speech and communication.

According to the American Music Therapy Association (2023), "Music Therapy is the clinical & evidence-based use of music interventions to accomplish individualized goals within a therapeutic relationship by a credentialed professional who has completed an approved music therapy program" (para. 1). These individualized goals are not specifically related to music per se, but can be addressed using music interventions. Some goals addressed by music therapy include improving speech and language skills; identifying, labeling, and expressing emotions; improving social skills; and improving fine and gross motor skills.

A music therapist previously provided music therapy to the Early Learning Center at the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center through grant funding, which the Early Learning Center no longer receives. In the 2022-2023 academic year, they received services from myself and the two practicum students that I supervised from the University of Kentucky at no cost to the center as part of graduate coursework. As a board-certified music therapist, I began providing music therapy to the center during my graduate clinical placement, when I supervised two practicum students. As a graduate teaching assistant and practicum supervisor, I continued to provide music therapy services along with a practicum student for four classes at the Hearing and Speech Center once a week until May 5, 2023. Although the University of Kentucky Music Therapy Program may be able to provide intermittent practicum-based services in the future, a regular comprehensive music therapy program would holistically support the developmental needs of all the children at the center.

- Primary Population Served: Disabled and non-disabled children ages 6 weeks through kindergarten (5-6 years old)
- 13. Primary Focus Area: early childhood development
- 14. Organization Primary Contact: Laura Elliott Buckner, MT-BC
- 15. Contact Information: <u>laura.buckner@uky.edu</u>

4.2 Information Request

This section contains information pertaining to tax exempt status, W-9, and deductibles, which I will omit for the purposes of this clinical project. This section also includes brief information about the program itself such as the title, budget, proposed start and end dates, program description, program initiative areas, and geographic scope.

16. W-9: To be completed by the non-profit organization.

- Program Title: A Comprehensive Music Therapy Program at an Inclusive Early Learning Center
- 18. Support Type: To be completed by the non-profit organization.
- 19. Requested Cash Amount: To be completed by the non-profit organization.
- 20. Non-deductible Amount: To be completed by the non-profit organization.
- 21. Non-deductible Type: To be completed by the non-profit organization.
- 22. Total Program Cost: \$32,935
- 23. Is the Overhead Negotiable: To be completed by the non-profit organization.
- 24. Program Budget File: Refer to Tables 3-5 in Appendix A.
- 25. Program Start Date: August 22, 2024
- 26. Program End Date: December 19, 2024

These dates are based on the 2023-2024 Fayette County Public Schools academic year. This budget includes start-up equipment (\$2,675) and one semester (17 weeks) of services (\$30,260) and would be lower in subsequent years (estimated \$61,700 per year, including equipment maintenance and 2% inflation).

27. Program Description (2000 character maximum):

The proposed music therapy program at the Early Learning Center will be informed by the mission of the center and goals I identified in previous clinical assessments and experiences at the center (improving social emotional and communication skills). Each week, the sessions follow a similar format: musical opening/welcome, movement intervention, primary music intervention(s), cool down musical intervention, and musical goodbye/closing. I will build on this format because the teachers and children have responded positively to this structure. All classes will follow this format and address the goals and objectives identified for each class. I will incorporate a strategic plan for individual sessions and that includes developing relationships with other therapists for co-treatment opportunities as a future step (e.g., with speech therapists, audiologists). All classes meet twice per week to provide repetition and enhance learning and retention. A list of the classes, ages, and length of session in minutes are provided in Table 2.

Table 2

Classroom	Age	Session Length	Total time per week
		(2x per week)	
Infants			
Roly Polys	6 weeks to 9 months	20 minutes	40 minutes
Caterpillars	9 months to 15 months	30 minutes	1 hour
Toddlers			
Butterflies	15 months to 22 months	30 minutes	1 hour
Ladybugs	2 years	30 minutes	1 hour
Grasshopper 1s	2 years	30 minutes	1 hour
Grasshopper 2s	2 to 3 years	30 minutes	1 hour
Preschool			
Robins	3 to 4 years	30 minutes	1 hour
Canaries	3 to 4 years	30 minutes	1 hour
Cardinals	3 to 4 years	30 minutes	1 hour
Doves	4 to 5 years	40 minutes	1 hour 20 minutes
Hummingbirds	4 to 5 years	40 minutes	1 hour 20 minutes
Blue Jays	4 to 5 years	40 minutes	1 hour 20 minutes
Kindergarten			
Owls	5 to 6 years	40 minutes	1 hour 20 minutes

ELC Classrooms and Session Times

Individual sessions	Varies (12 children)	30 minutes	6 hours
		TOTAL Per Week	20 hours

As outlined in Table 2, class times are based on the developmental level of the children (e.g., nap schedule, attention span) as well as my clinical experience with children at the center. Each class will have music therapy twice a week. The weekly schedule will be determined in collaboration with the Director and classroom teachers. I will also budget time for up to six hours of individual sessions per week.

- Program Initiative Area (select from Disaster; Driver/Passenger Safety;
 Environmental Sustainability; Financial Inclusion; Mobility; N/A; STEM
 Education; Workforce Readiness): N/A
- 29. Program Activities (select from Arts & Culture; Civic & Community; Disaster Relief; Education k-12; Education pre-k; Health & Human Services; Leadership Development; Post-Secondary Education): Arts & Culture, Civic & Community, Education pre-k, Health & Human Services
- Environment or Automotive Safety Focus (select from Environment; Automotive Safety; N/A): N/A
- 31. Geographic Scope (select from Local; Regional; National): Local
- 32. County Distribution? (will this grant be distribution to multiple counties throughout the US): No
- Primary County Region (select region of country program will benefit): Lexington-Fayette County, Kentucky, USA
- 34. Primary County %: 100%

- 35. Local, State, or Federal Support (describe any support you receive from local, state, or federal government entities, otherwise enter N/A): N/A
- 36. Other Supporters (are there other supporters? If yes, at what capacity/sponsorship level?): N/A
- 37. Other Automotive Supporters (are there other automotive and/or automotive finance supporters? If yes, at what capacity/sponsorship level?): N/A
- Toyota Internal Requestor Affiliation: TMMK (Toyota Motor Manufacturing, Kentucky, Inc.)
- 39. CRA Eligibility: N/A

4.3 Program Objectives

The following section contains the program objectives, targets, and sustainability. It also contains information about Toyota's involvement and how they will benefit from the program.

40. Program Objectives (2000 character maximum):

Objectives of this program include: a) enhancing early childhood development through use of music interventions; b) providing services to the community at no charge to the parents or caregivers; and c) improving overall well-being of the children. Music therapy in early childhood targets language, communication, and socio-emotional development by utilizing the elements of music, such as rhythm, melody, style, and dynamics. For example, in a preschool music therapy session, a music therapist may implement instrument play interventions during which the music therapist sings the directions for playing the instrument and then assesses the children for following the directions and the motor skills used while playing the instrument. Music therapists also use social songs (social stories set to music) to help children learn social communication skills. The teachers at the ELC focus on teaching communication skills and social skills that help children reach developmental milestones (The Hearing & Speech Center, 2020). Music therapists often facilitate the development of social communication through use of music games and movement activities.

Music therapists use their knowledge of musical development to aid the development of other skills in the domain areas of cognition, language and communication, fine and gross motor skills, and socio-emotional skills (Humpal, 2018). Because of the nature of music and child development, Humpal (2018) concludes that "developmentally appropriate music therapy acknowledges the young child's world is permeated by playful use of music that not only builds music awareness and skills but is also a powerful tool for addressing non-music goals in an enjoyable, meaningful, and effective manner" (p. 172).

41. Program Targets (2000 character maximum):

Each week, the sessions follow a similar format: opening/welcome, movement intervention, primary intervention(s), cool down intervention, and goodbye/closing. Sometimes there are multiple cool down and movement interventions depending on the needs of the children on that specific day, which is determined through assessment in the session and is typical of a music therapy session (i.e., flexibility). I plan to build on this format, which has worked successfully in pilot programming in the past (i.e., through graduate coursework), and all the classes will follow this general format with music experiences tailored to address the goals and objectives identified for each class. The primary goals for all classrooms will be to support language, communication, and socioemotional development at an age-appropriate level. Specific functional target behaviors include the following: following directions, answering questions, identifying and labeling emotions, expressing emotions, sharing with others, and taking turns. I will incorporate a strategic plan for individual sessions (i.e., one-on-ones), including plans for developing relationships with other therapists for co-treatment opportunities as a future step (e.g., with speech therapists, audiologists). I will ask the Director of the ELC to connect me to them via email so that I may set up a time to talk with them, build rapport, and identify ways in which our services might complement one another. Other specialists at the center, classroom teachers, volunteers, parents, and caregivers may not be aware of what exactly happens in music therapy. Therefore, I will regularly prepare educational materials as part of the comprehensive program (e.g., a newsletter, flyers, short talks and demonstrations at professional development days and open houses).

42. Program Sustainability (2000 character maximum):

This comprehensive music therapy program is designed to facilitate early childhood development in an inclusive center for children with and without disabilities. Once established, the program will be sustained by donors, fundraisers, and various benefactors. The Hearing and Speech Center has several community events throughout the year to raise money for the Hearing and Speech Center as a parent organization and for the ELC specifically. Furthermore, the instrument budget will decrease significantly after establishing the program in the first year; subsequent years will require a smaller annual budget for repairs, replacements, and equipment updates, as described in the budget.

43. Toyota Funding (how will Toyota's funds be used? (2000 character maximum)):

Toyota's funds will be used to purchase instruments; multisensory materials and supplies for visual aids (e.g., paper, felt, puppets, special lights, markers); and will be used for the Board-Certified Music Therapist's salary.

The salary for the MT-BC is based on experience, education level, national and regional averages from the American Music Therapy Association and incorporates time for planning and documentation in addition to time spent with children in session. According to the American Music Therapy Association Workforce Analysis (2021), the average yearly salary for a music therapist in the Southeastern region was \$53,032. The mean, median, and mode of hourly rate for group music therapy in the southeastern region was \$86.13, \$90, and \$100, respectively. These averages are based solely on client-contact hours. Client-contact hours do not include the extra time spent for documentation and planning. For example, 20 client-contact hours requires approximately 20 non-client-contact hours for planning, documentation, and other administrative duties such as attending meetings. In other words, the program proposal is for a full-time position. The music therapist in this position will bill for client-contact hours.

The materials included in the budget are basic materials required to start a music therapy program. Cleaning supplies are required for infection and disease control protocols. Other materials assist with artistic and creative expression on the parts of the children and the therapist and to provide multiple means of representation using ageappropriate visual aids and manipulatives (e.g., puppets).

Quality musical instruments that are versatile and age-appropriate for the range of ages at the Early Learning Center are required to establish the music therapy program. These instruments provide rhythmic and melodic variety. Also, if the instruments are purchased by the center itself, then the Early Learning Center will be able to keep them should the music therapist seek employment elsewhere. Thus, these expenses will not be incurred each year. Occasionally, instruments will need to be repaired or replaced, but purchasing the instruments themselves is not an annual expense.

44. Will Toyota receive material benefits for this contribution (select yes or no)? No

45. How will Toyota be recognized (2000 character maximum):

Toyota will be listed as the benefactor for the program in monthly newsletters to the parents and community members, all program flyers, and promotional materials. With parental permission, the children will create thank-you videos recognizing Toyota for their contribution to the program.

46. Toyota Employee or Dealer Involvement (were you asked to apply by a Toyota rep or dealer?): No

47. Additional objectives or comments (2000 character maximum):

Music serves many roles, from entertainment to enriching childhood development. According to Gordon's Music Learning Model (2012), at as early as two weeks old, an infant with typical hearing will stop moving when they hear a sound, regardless of what that sound is. By two months old, infants can focus their attention when being sung to. By the age of six months, infants can move their whole body to music (Gordon, 2012; Humpal, 2018; Schwartz, 2008). In addition to the bodily responses to music, the effects of music on various cognitive skills related to speech and reading have been studied by several researchers (Bergman Nutley et al., 2014; Flaugnacco et al., 2015; Zhau & Kuhl, 2016).

Music facilitates emotion regulation (ER). ER describes how a person returns to an emotional homeostasis after changes in emotion. In a systematic review, Sena Moore (2013) found that music can activate certain parts of the brain that underlie physiological and ER (e.g., orbitofrontal cortex, prefrontal cortex) based on its emotional relevance (or the lack thereof) to the listener. Physiologically, music can help regulate bodily responses, such as changing heart and respiration rates to the musical beat in times of distress, which may facilitate a sense of comfort (Edgar, 2019; Schwartz, 2008). Music also provides structured and predictable auditory stimulation that can be manipulated to increase tolerance for various sensory stimuli (Schwartz, 2008). Because music influences physiological responses, provides opportunities to do things together, and opportunities to self-direct, it can to support ER development (Sena Moore & Hanson-Abromeit, 2015; 2018).

Several teachers expressed their appreciation for the music therapy I provided in their classroom when I was a graduate teaching assistant. Teachers stated that the children were better at focusing on the tasks at hand and that they demonstrated better social and communication skills. Some of the teachers of the classes I did not work with approached me and asked me why I did not work with them. These experiences further demonstrated an interest and need for a comprehensive music therapy program at the ELC.

4.3.1 Program Beneficiaries

- 48. If the program/event is a fundraiser, please provide the number of people participating in the fundraising event: N/A
- 49. Does your organization primarily serve animals, wildlife, or environment? No

4.4 Congressional Involvement

The following section is a list of questions that ask about government funding and congressional involvement. These questions are not applicable to my program but are included in this chapter, as they are part of the grant application.

- 50. Is this contribution or the charity for which it is intended involved in any way with any covered federal official? No
- 51. Members of Congress (If you are a Member of Congress or an employee of either the U.S. House of Representatives or the U.S. Senate or a covered Executive Branch official, list your name and title here, otherwise N/A.): N/A
- 52. Established By (If this organization was established by one or more Members of Congress or a covered Executive Branch official, please list their names here, otherwise N/A.): N/A
- 53. Named For (If this organization was named for a current Member of Congress, please list their name and titles here, otherwise N/A.): N/A
- Controlled by/Active Participant (If this organization is controlled by a current Member of Congress, Congressional Staff Member, a covered Executive Branch

official, or has an active participant on the board of directors, please list their name(s) and titles(s) here, otherwise N/A.): N/A

55. Honoring or Recognizing (If this contribution is for an event honoring or recognizing a Member of Congress or a covered Executive Branch official, please enter their name and title here, otherwise N/A.): N/A

4.5 Payment Information

This information includes the name, address, and banking information for the organization receiving the funds. Considering that this is not the actual submitted grant proposal, I have left it blank except for the city and state. This area will be filled out once I partner with a non-profit organization and complete the grant application in partnership with them.

- 56. Payee Name 1:
- 57. Payee Name 2:
- 58. Payee Address 1:
- 59. Payee City: Lexington
- 60. Payee State: Kentucky
- 61. Payee Zip:
- 62. Payment Contact Name:
- 63. Payment Contact Phone:
- 64. Payment Email:
- 65. ACH Authorization:

CHAPTER 5. REFLECTION

The purpose of this clinical project was to develop a comprehensive music therapy program for the Early Learning Center (ELC) at the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center and a grant proposal to fund this program. My process involved developing a program proposal, finding an appropriate funding source, creating a grant proposal for said funding source, and receiving and implementing feedback. This clinical project is a culmination of my work at the University of Kentucky. Considerable time was spent in reflection throughout the process of completing this clinical project. This particular choice of clinical project was very difficult because I did not have any examples from the University of Kentucky music therapy program, and there were not many examples I could learn from, except for master's theses in the field of social work and non-thesis examples in music therapy (e.g., books and book chapters, conference presentations). I had not heard of a grant proposal as an option for a clinical project before the Fall 2022. I had only read theses in the form of research studies up to that point. In the following sections, I will reflect on this learning process by discussing the barriers to identifying a funding source; academic, professional, and personal insights; connections to the theoretical framework; and contributions to music therapy.

5.1 Barriers to Identifying a Funding Source

The barriers for identifying a funding source began from the very first Google search. There were numerous search results that showed up and deciding on an appropriate funding source from those options was overwhelming. Furthermore, most grants identified in both Google and the "Find Funders" web-based tool were research-

48

focused funding opportunities, which were not appropriate funding sources for this project. Of the philanthropic grants available, most were for non-profit organizations. I am an independent contractor and self-employed, but I am not an organization. Therefore, I was not eligible for these grants. I overcame this first barrier after my committee chair prompted me to draft a grant proposal for the Toyota grant, as my program proposal fit all the criteria except for being a non-profit organization. This was an appropriate solution. I planned not to submit the grant proposal as part of my clinical project, but I can partner with a non-profit organization in the future to submit the proposal.

Another significant barrier concerned communication between me and the community partner, the ELC director. I built a positive relationship with her during my graduate clinical placement and time as a teaching assistant, and she expressed interest in working with me on my project. I emailed her at the end of January 2023, informing her in writing of my clinical project and asking if I could partner with the ELC to create a comprehensive music therapy program for the ELC. The director responded to the initial email at the beginning of February and expressed interest. She stated, "We would love to help you with this. Let me think about some answers and look up any other grant information we may have used in the past. We would love to have you everywhere. The kids and staff love music days" (K. Smart, personal communication, February 2, 2023). While I was finishing the program proposal in April 2023, I asked the director for a roster of classes. I received an automated response that she was out of town and to reach out to

her assistant. Despite following up with the director and other ELC staff, I never received further communication after April 2023. To this day, I am still unsure what happened.

The shift from initial excited interest to lack of communication was very concerning and frustrating. It left me questioning everything related to this project. I reread my emails several times, gave an appropriate amount of time before sending followup emails, and consulted with my committee chair on next steps. I had to reassure myself often that I was doing all the right things and that this lack of communication was not my fault. Considering that my clinical project was not to administer the program, the lack of communication did not halt my progress, but it made it more difficult to locate a funding source.

A third barrier in my project was a general inability to access grant requests for proposals. Some requests for proposals are behind a paywall, such as those on The Grant Portal (Promero, Inc., 2023). If I was a well-established LLC, paying for a subscription may have been worth the investment, but as a self-employed, independent contractor in graduate school, that was not feasible. However, I was able to access brief descriptions of grant opportunities and use filters to search for requests for proposals.

A final consideration of barriers is that some proposals, such as the Toyota grant, are on private portals that require a 501(c)3 number. The Associate Director of Foundation and Corporate Philanthropy at the University of Kentucky thankfully provided a list of the questions from the request for proposals. Had she not helped me in this way, I would not have been able to complete the grant proposal for Toyota. I am grateful to the Associate Director for her help in accessing the grant proposal and requirements.

5.2 Insights

In addition to reflecting on the barriers to identifying funding, I gained many insights while completing this clinical project. These insights are related to academic, professional, and personal facets of my life.

5.2.1 Academic Insights

Most of the academic insights I gained over the course of the last year are related to my writing and research capabilities. I have completed several literature reviews and cumulative projects over the course of my post-secondary education. However, none of those projects compared to the time and resources required to complete this comprehensive clinical project. This project alone has over 50 references. In order to complete this project, particularly the literature review, I utilized the research skills I gained in MUS 600: Introduction to Research. These skills include online search strategies, how to read research, and how to create citations for nearly every type of source imaginable. I did not think I would be able to put these skills into practice. However, I was able to do so with lots of help from my committee members, peers, and the staff at the Robert E. Hemenway Writing Center at the University of Kentucky.

The feedback I received on previous projects was not as intense. That feedback was more direct and specific. However, the feedback I received on this project from my committee members, peers, and the staff at the writing center challenged me in ways I did not expect. While I did receive direct and specific feedback, I also received feedback about my overall writing style and how to improve my writing and research capabilities. I had to completely rethink how I approach writing. Even with chapter and section outlines, I struggled to put my thoughts on paper in a professional and academic manner. Sometimes, I would sit at my computer for an hour and only type one paragraph. However, those around me kept reinforcing the concept of quality over quantity. I would often feel discouraged that my clinical project was not 200 pages. I would feel like I was not doing enough. However, like clinical writing, I have learned to be as concise as possible in my academic writing as well. I have grown exponentially.

5.2.2 Professional Insights

The original hope for the future of this project was to submit the grant proposal to Toyota in partnership with the ELC at the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center. The grant funding would allow for the staff at the center and myself to establish a comprehensive music therapy program. I would be paid a salary with a fair, living wage, and the children would receive music therapy services at no cost to their parents or guardians nor to the center. However, due to the lack of communication from my community partner, this plan appears no longer feasible. Nonetheless, through this experience, I have gained the knowledge and confidence to reach out to other organizations (such as Down Syndrome Association of Central Kentucky) with a wellformed program proposal and can partner with them to refine it and apply for this grant funding.

The experience I gained during this process has also equipped me with the skills necessary for jobs such as project manager, grant writer, and various other administrative careers. I learned how to design a program and write proposals, and the communication skills I gained from this experience are invaluable. I communicated clearly and often with my community partners and expressed my needs, but I was not overbearing – I asked for their needs and did my best to anticipate them when the community partners did not clearly communicate their needs. I was able to complete the program proposal based on what I already knew about the program, even when my questions were left unanswered. This ability to anticipate and address needs is an essential skill for any project manager or supervisor. These skills are also necessary for any music therapy business owner.

Overall, the professional skills I gained while completing this clinical project have helped me feel more confident about my ability to financially support myself. I feel more equipped to prepare sessions and develop programs. I also feel more equipped to take established programs and make them my own, meaning that when I step into a new position, I do not feel like I have to do everything exactly like the preceding music therapist. I can build a strong foundation and trust in my own growing clinical wisdom.

5.2.3 Personal Insights

This clinical project in the form of a thesis was not just another assignment for another class. I learned so much about myself as a person while completing this work. I gained more experience coping with disappointment (e.g., when my community partner stopped communicating with me). I improved my social skills by reaching out to professionals I had never met (e.g., the person in the Community Outreach role at Down Syndrome Association of Central Kentucky), and I learned how to establish healthy boundaries in my personal life, work life, and academic life. The skill of compartmentalization did not come easily to me. I tend to draw on personal experiences to inform my clinical wisdom. While I still do that, it is important to find balance among personal, professional, and academic pursuits.

I learned this balance by experiencing both immense losses and gains in my personal and professional life while completing my thesis (academic life). It was one of the most painful experiences I have ever gone through. When I first experienced this grief, I thought it would derail my progress on my clinical project. By contrast, it urged me to be more dedicated to my professional and academic pursuits. I would be vulnerable and feel my grief in personal therapy every two weeks. Then, I could focus on my writing after acknowledging my feelings about my personal losses. I was and still am very dedicated to working through this grief by putting in the hard work: reflecting on my actions, validating my feelings, and learning from my mistakes.

I also learned how to better prioritize my time between work and academic pursuits. This skill goes in this section because learning to prioritize what is important is a universal skill. I was able to use my time management skills to navigate starting a new music therapy position out of town while still completing this clinical project. I balanced my time so I would maintain a consistent writing schedule, complete my documentation and session planning, and still have time to rest with my service dog, Daisy (along with doing other things we enjoy).

5.3 Connections to the Theoretical Framework

Several of the children at the ELC are autistic, d/Deaf, hard-of-hearing, or have some other disability that affects their receptive and expressive communication skills.

These identities are necessary to consider when creating a comprehensive music therapy program. In Chapter 2, I wrote about how music can help with communication and social-emotional skills; however, here I will reflect on how the Affirmative Model of Disability influenced my decision-making.

The Affirmative Model of Disability extends beyond consideration of societal barriers and asserts that while societal structure is disabling to those with various impairments, even if all of these various barriers were removed, impairments would still impact the disabled individual in some way (Cameron, 2010; Rickson, 2014; Swain & French, 2000). While I provided music therapy services at the ELC and developed the program proposal, I considered the children's various disabilities and developmental levels. If I were to have used the Social Model of disability, I would have solely focused on the social, environmental, and attitudinal barriers that prevent the children from fully benefiting from music therapy. However, using the Affirmative Model of Disability, I also considered how the impairments (the physical, mental, and/or emotional diagnoses) affected the children even after I removed the barriers present in the session. For example, when I developed the program proposal, I considered listening fatigue when determining the session length. Listening fatigue is a phenomenon that happens when deaf and hard-of-hearing people have to exert more physical and mental energy to engage in a hearing society (Hornsby et al., 2017). Even when barriers are removed by adaptive technology or simultaneous communication (signing and verbally communicating at the same time), deaf and hard-of-hearing people still have to exert more energy to concentrate than their hearing counterparts (American Academy of Audiology, 2022).

Referring to my clinical wisdom and literature relating to childhood development and music (refer to Chapter 2), 45-minute sessions would be appropriate for a kindergarten class with all hearing students. However, to account for listening fatigue, I decided on 40-minute sessions for the preschool and kindergarten classes, with the last five to ten minutes of each session dedicated to a cool down. I used music that was less stimulating and required less focused attention (refer to Appendix A).

I also thought about how I talk about disability. In my personal statement (refer to Chapter 1), I said that I would use identity-first language throughout this clinical project. I used identity-first language in the program proposal (refer to Appendix A) and the grant proposal (refer to Chapter 4). I default to identity-first language in my personal, professional, and academic life to affirm the disabled person's experience and foster a sense of pride, community, and acceptance for the disability community.

In summary, the Affirmative Model of Disability informed every decision I made in this project, from the references and resources I used, to how I communicated with others, and even the funding source I chose (i.e., I looked at the Toyota grant website for any language or principles that contradicted the Affirmative Model of Disability and found none). In the final section I describe how this clinical project and its connection to the Affirmative Model of Disability contribute to the music therapy profession.

5.4 Contributions to Music Therapy

This clinical project is important to the music therapy profession because music therapy is not a licensed profession in all 50 states. Licensure helps increase access to equitable care, and grant funding does the same. Not all early childhood centers have access to this type of comprehensive music therapy program. This clinical project – the process of creating a comprehensive music therapy program and grant proposal – offers a resource to help future music therapists learn the steps of developing a program and applying for grant funding. This clinical project also contains information about the importance of communication with your community partners and what to do if communication issues arise. Furthermore, this clinical project and its connection to the Affirmative Model of Disability contribute to the field of music therapy as a resource that many may not yet be familiar with.

5.4.1 Music Therapy and the Affirmative Model of Disability

I did not know much about the Affirmative Model of Disability before I completed this clinical project. When I started looking into it, I found that the literature about the Affirmative Model of Disability was lacking. The Affirmative Model of Disability dates to 2000, but there are only a handful of sources that address it (Cameron, 2010; McCormack & Collins, 2010; Rickson, 2014; Swain & French, 2000). This clinical project is an addition to that literature. Furthermore, I have provided an example of how one can implement the Affirmative Model of Disability in a specific music therapy setting. When I did my initial search, there were less than 30 results when I Googled "music therapy" and "affirmative model of disability."⁶ In my professional pursuits, I hear other music therapists use offensive language (e.g., "special needs," "differently abled") or defaulting to person-first language without even knowing that they could

⁶ Original Google search link: <u>"music therapy" AND "affirmative model of disability"</u> (https://www.google.com/search?client=safari&rls=en&q=%22music+therapy%22+AND +%22affirmative+model+of+disability%22&ie=UTF-8&oe=UTF-8#ip=1)

potentially be harming their clients/patients/students (Rudy, 2022). In this clinical project, I have provided information about the language surrounding disability. In doing this, I hope people will read my clinical project and reflect on how they talk and think about disability and disabled people both individually and as a community.

5.5 Lessons Learned

In addition to insights and connections to music therapy, completing this clinical project also taught me some things I would do differently the next time I write a grant proposal. To begin, I would devote more time to the initial search for requests for proposals. If I had spent more time searching for individual grants, I might have been able to find one I could apply for as an individual, since I am not a non-profit organization. Additionally, if I had found a request for proposals for individuals, then I may have had less difficulty accessing the questions and requirements like I did with the Toyota grant. Another lesson I learned was that I should have a list of potential community partners when thinking about applying for a grant. The lack of communication from my initial community partner was very disappointing, and if I had had a back-up community partner (e.g., a contact at another early learning center), then I would feel more comfortable turning this clinical project into a job opportunity. Completing this clinical project sparked some ideas for future research. The way I established a community partnership was through an institution of higher education, and the other two organizations I reached out to (refer to Chapter 3) were "cold call"-type emails after looking up their information online. That method of reaching out to potential community partners sparked my interest in how to broaden my professional network. In

summary, I learned to not rush the initial search for grant requests for proposals, to have multiple possible community partners, and to research more sustainable ways to build my professional network.

5.6 Conclusion

In summary, this clinical project is the process of creating a comprehensive music therapy program for an inclusive early learning center and completing a grant proposal for that program. I evaluated my privilege and marginalization and how that impacts me as a clinician, and I described the theoretical framework that I applied to this project. Then, I provided ample literature supporting the use of music and music therapy in an inclusive early learning center. Chapter 3 is a detailed description of how I completed this project, followed by the grant proposal itself in Chapter 4. I closed with a reflection of what I learned and the barriers I encountered while completing this clinical project.

Completing this clinical project left me with a lot to process. My committee chair was not wrong when she said writing a thesis is like riding a rollercoaster. There were so many ups and downs and abrupt twists and turns to navigate. Sometimes it felt like time was flying by, and other times it felt like I would never finish. However, going through the process of developing a comprehensive music therapy program, identifying funding, and writing a grant proposal taught me how to navigate barriers and reflect on many parts of my life. This clinical project also has the potential to help other music therapists and students learn about the details of creating a comprehensive music therapy program in an early childhood setting and how to go about finding funds to establish a sustainable program.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Program Proposal

A Comprehensive Music Therapy Program for an Inclusive Early Learning Center

Laura Elliott Buckner, MT-BC

Abstract

I provided music therapy services at no charge to the Early Learning Center at the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center once per week for an entire school year. The purpose of this program proposal is to build on these initial services and develop a comprehensive music therapy program for the Early Learning Center. Thirteen classes will receive music therapy twice a week, and a maximum of 12 children will receive weekly individual music therapy sessions. The budget presented in this proposal covers one semester (18 weeks) of music therapy services by me, a board-certified music therapist. The program will be evaluated based on teacher feedback and satisfaction and the children's progress towards their goals and objectives, determined by collaboration among the classroom teachers, other therapists, and myself.

Background

The Lexington Hearing and Speech Center, established in 1960, has an inclusive Early Learning Center that supports the development of approximately 160 children total, ages 6 weeks-Kindergarten in 13 classrooms annually. This Early Learning Center caters to the diverse needs of both non-disabled and disabled children. Their mission is "for children to leave HSC with the language and independence to be active participants in their community" (The Hearing & Speech Center, 2020, para. 4). The disabled children at
the center mostly have disabilities relating to speech and communication. A music therapist previously provided music therapy to the Early Learning Center at the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center through grant funding which they no longer receive. and from myself, a music therapy graduate teaching assistant, and practicum students from the University of Kentucky at no cost to the center. As a board-certified music therapist, I began providing music therapy to the center during my graduate clinical placement. Along with my practicum student, I have continued to provide music therapy services for four classes at the Hearing and Speech Center once a week as part of my graduate teaching assistantship. Although the University of Kentucky Music Therapy Program may be able to provide intermittent music therapy practicum-based services in the future, a regular comprehensive music therapy program that supports the developmental needs of all the children at the center should be established. To support the need for this comprehensive and inclusive program, I will briefly review literature on the use of music and music therapy in early childhood.

Music and Early Childhood

The literature surrounding early childhood development is expansive and dates back to as early as the early 1900s (Manny, 1910; Piaget & Cartalis, 1928). Current literature about early childhood development includes topics ranging from cognitive skills and reading interventions to behavioral and emotional disorders to parental bonding and social skills (Kucirkova & Tolsum, 2023; Tesson et al., 2022; Thümmler et al., 2022). A common tool that can be used to address all of these skills is music (Humpal, 2018). Music serves many roles, from entertainment to enriching childhood development. According to Gordon's Music Learning Model (2012), at as early as two weeks old, an infant with typical hearing will stop moving when they hear a sound, regardless of what that sound is. By two months old, infants can focus their attention when being sung to. By the age of six months, infants are able to move their whole body to music (Gordon, 2012; Humpal, 2018; Schwartz, 2008). In addition to the bodily responses to music, the effects of music on various cognitive skills related to speech and reading have been studied by several researchers. Some of their findings will be summarized below.

Music Therapy and Inclusive Early Childhood Settings

Music therapy is the use of music by a credentialed music therapist to address non-musical goals including, but not limited to, cognitive skills, social-emotional skills, language and communication skills, and fine/gross motor skills (American Music Therapy Association, 2023). Music therapy in early childhood involves improving child development of said skills by utilizing the elements of music, such as rhythm, melody, style, and dynamics. For example, in a preschool music therapy session, a music therapist may implement instrument interventions during which the music therapist sings the directions for playing the instrument and then assesses the children for following the directions and the motor skills used while playing the instrument. Music therapists also use social songs (social stories set to music) to help children learn social communication skills. The teachers at the Early Learning Center focus on teaching communication skills and social skills that help children reach developmental milestones (The Hearing & Speech Center, 2020). Music therapy supports the development of these skills because music therapists often facilitate the development of social communication through use of music games and movement activities.

Auditory skills begin developing in a fetus as young as 18 weeks' gestation, and musical detection skills are documented at as young as two months old, which means that music is an appropriate therapeutic medium for this age group (Standley & Walworth, 2010). While musical skills are not often the primary target behavior in music therapy, music therapists take the children's musical development into consideration when planning interventions and plan so that the children can be the most successful. Music therapists use their knowledge of musical development to aid the development of other skills in the domain areas of cognition, language and communication, fine and gross motor skills, and socio-emotional skills (Humpal, 2018). Because of the nature of music and child development, Humpal (2018) concludes that "developmentally appropriate music therapy acknowledges the young child's world is permeated by playful use of music that not only builds music awareness and skills but is also a powerful tool for addressing non-music goals in an enjoyable, meaningful, and effective manner" (p. 172).

Approach

The proposed music therapy program at the Early Learning Center at the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center will be informed by the mission of the center and goals I identified in previous assessments and experiences at the center (improving social emotional skills and communication skills). In Spring 2023, I led two classes and supervised an equivalency student who led two classes. These groups consisted of an older infant class, a toddler class, and two preschool classes. The infant and toddler classes were fifteen minutes long, and the preschool classes were forty minutes long. This was based on the developmental level and attention span of the children in each class. However, after working with the infant and toddler classes each week for an entire school year, I have used my clinical wisdom and the actions of the children and teachers to determine that the two fifteen-minute classes can be longer. A more detailed list of classes, ages, and length of session can be found later in this section.

Each week, the sessions follow a similar format: opening/welcome, movement intervention, primary intervention(s), cool down intervention, and goodbye/closing. Sometimes there are multiple cool down and movement interventions depending on the needs of the children on that specific day. I plan to build on this format, and because the teachers and children have responded positively to this structure, all of the classes will follow this format and address the goals and objectives identified for each class. The primary goals for all classrooms will be to support language, communication, and socioemotional development at an age-appropriate level. I will incorporate a strategic plan for individual sessions, including plans for developing relationships with other therapists for co-treatment opportunities as a future step (e.g., with speech therapists, audiologists). I will ask the Director of the Early Learning Center to connect me to them via email so that I may set up a time to talk with them, build rapport, and identify ways in which our services might complement one another. Other specialists at the center may not be aware of what exactly happens in music therapy, so I will prepare educational materials as part of the comprehensive program.

Classes

Table 2 is a list of the classes, ages, and length of session (in minutes).

Table 3

Classroom	Age	Session Length (2x per week)	Total time per week
Infants			
Roly Polys	6 weeks to 9 months	20 minutes	40 minutes
Caterpillars	9 months to 15 months	30 minutes	1 hour
Toddlers			
Butterflies	15 months to 22 months	30 minutes	1 hour
Ladybugs	2 years	30 minutes	1 hour
Grasshopper 1s	2 years	30 minutes	1 hour
Grasshopper 2s	2 to 3 years	30 minutes	1 hour
Preschool			
Robins	3 to 4 years	30 minutes	1 hour
Canaries	3 to 4 years	30 minutes	1 hour
Cardinals	3 to 4 years	30 minutes	1 hour
Doves	4 to 5 years	40 minutes	1 hour 20 minutes
Hummingbirds	4 to 5 years	40 minutes	1 hour 20 minutes
Blue Jays	4 to 5 years	40 minutes	1 hour 20 minutes
Kindergarten			
Owls	5 to 6 years	40 minutes	1 hour 20 minutes
Individual sessions	Varies (12 children)	30 minutes	6 hours
	Т	OTAL Per Week	20 hours

The times for these classes were decided based on the developmental level of the children and my own clinical experience with the Caterpillars, Butterflies, Doves, and Hummingbirds. Each class will have music therapy twice a week. The weekly schedule will be determined after meeting with Kim and the other teachers. I will also budget time for up to six hours of individual sessions per week.

Budget

The budget for this program covers one semester of music therapy services (17 weeks). Each class will receive music therapy twice a week (14 total hours of student contact per week), and up to twelve students may receive one 30-minute individual session per week (six total hours of student contact per week). A budget spreadsheet will be attached to the grant proposal portal and is presented here in Tables 4-6 for the first two years of the program.

Table 4

Budget Item	Description	Cost Estimate (17 weeks)
Salary for a board-certified music therapist (MT-BC)	 20 hours student contact per week Average hourly rate of \$89 per hour (accounts for assessment, planning, documentation, team meetings, family meetings) Weekly salary for MT-BC is \$1,780 	\$30,260
Musical Instruments	 Sample set of instruments Buffalo drums Lollipop drums Set of boomwhackers Set of rhythm sticks Set of egg shakers Djembes Cabasas Gathering drum 	\$2,000 (includes tax and shipping)

Start-Up Budget (First Semester)

	• Bongos	
Materials	Disinfectant wipes, paper, \$675 pens, markers, printer ink, and other various supplies to support multiple means of representation (e.g., visual aids).	
	TOTAL \$32,935	5

Table 5

Budget for the Second Semester of the New Music Therapy Program

Budget Item	Description	Cost Estimate (17 weeks)
Salary for a board-certified music therapist (MT-BC)	 20 hours student contact per week Average hourly rate of \$89 per hour (accounts for assessment, planning, documentation, team meetings, family meetings) Weekly salary for MT-BC is \$1,780 	\$30,260
TOTAL		\$30,260

Table 6

Budget Item	Description	Cost Estimate (34 weeks)
Salary for a board-certified music therapist (MT-BC)	 20 hours student contact per week Average hourly rate of \$90 per hour (accounts for assessment, planning, documentation, team meetings, family meetings; 2% inflation) 	\$61,200
	67	

	• Weekly salary for MT- BC is \$1,800	
Musical Instruments and Materials	• Maintenance, replacements, updates	\$500
TOTAL		\$61,700

Budget Justification

Below is a budget justification for each category of the budget.

MT-BC Salary

The salary for the MT-BC is based on experience, education level, national and regional averages from the American Music Therapy Association and incorporates time for planning and documentation in addition to time spent with children in session. According to the American Music Therapy Association Workforce Analysis (2021), the average yearly salary for a music therapist in the Southeastern region was \$53,032. The mean, median, and mode of hourly rate for group music therapy in the southeastern region was \$86.13, \$90, and \$100, respectively. These averages are now two years old, and inflation and the economy have certainly impacted the cost of living. Furthermore, the program writer is not asking for any benefits for the MT-BC, and they have taken that into account when creating the budget. These averages are based solely on client-contact hours. However, client-contact hours do not include the extra time spent for documentation and planning. For example, 20 client-contact hours requires approximately 20 non-client-contact hours for planning, documentation, and other administrative duties such as attending meetings. In other words, the program proposal is for a full-time position. The music therapist in this position will bill for client-contact

hours, but the rates are set to consider the time spent on non-client-contact hours. In addition to the MT-BC credential, the music therapist who will implement this program is also a music educator, holds a Master of Music in music therapy graduate certificate in Diversity and Inclusion, and has already provided music therapy services to the Early Learning Center for an entire school year. These skills and experience alongside the services proposed warrant a rate of \$89 per hour in the first year and \$90 per hour in the second year (to reflect estimated 2% inflation).

Materials

The materials included in the budget are basic materials required to start a music therapy program. Cleaning supplies are required for infection and disease control protocols. Other materials assist with artistic and creative expression on the parts of the children and the therapist and to provide multiple means of representation through the use of age-appropriate visual aids and manipulatives (e.g., puppets). I have included a list of materials I will use in the new music therapy program in Table 7.

Table 7

Material:	Quantity/Exact	Price:	Link:	
	Item:			
Colored	Crayola	\$46.79 (plus	https://www.staples.com/Cra	
Pencils	Classpack Kids'	tax)	yola-Classpack-Colored-	
	Colored		Pencils-240-	
	Pencils, Assorte		Box/product_424772	
	d Colors,			
	240/Carton (68-			
	8024)			
Felt shapes	Felt Shapes	\$21.59 (plus	https://www.staples.com/Roy	
		tax)	lco-Felt-Shape-	
			Assorted/product_871549	

Materials Budget Estimate for Semester 1

Felt board	CHEFAN 4	\$36.99 (plus	https://www.amazon.com/C	
and felt	Sets Storyboard	tax)	HEFAN-Storyboard-	
animals	and Foldable		Foldable-Board-	
	Felt Board		Bundle/dp/B0BWK72RVV	
	Bundle			
Monster	The Puppet	\$89.96 (plus	https://www.westmusic.com/	
Puppets	Company Baby	tax)	kids-movement/movement-	
	Monster Hand		props/puppets-stuffed-	
	Puppets		animals/540369	
Set of	2 West Music	\$67.90 (plus	https://www.westmusic.com/	
scarves	WM27S 27"	tax)	kids-movement/movement-	
	Hemmed	, ,	props/scarves/540053	
	Scarves (12			
	scarves)			
Cart (to	West Music 3-	\$275.00	https://www.westmusic.com/	
transport	Tiered Cart	(plus tax)	classroom-furniture-	
instruments		<u>`</u>	equipment/classroom-carts-	
from room			storage/500967	
to room)				
Storage bins	WYT Clear	\$22.99 (plus	https://www.amazon.com/W	
(big)	Storage Latch	tax)	YT-Storage-6-Pack-	
× <i>U</i> /	Bins, 6-Pack	,	Organizer-5-	
	Storage		Litre/dp/B0BVQ69QJD/ref=	
	Organizer Box		sr 1 4?crid=3I82ID5U1YK	
	with Handle		ZX&keywords=storage+bins	
	and Lids, 5-		&nav sdd=aps&gid=168253	
	Litre		1896&refinements=p_n_mat	
			erial_two_browse-	
			bin%3A11618101011&rnid=	
			11618050011&s=storageorg	
			anization&sprefix=storag&sr	
			=1-4	
Clorox	Clorox	\$44.99 (plus	https://www.staples.com/Clo	
Wipes	Commercial	tax)	rox-Disinfecting-Wipes-	
1	Solutions	,	Fresh-Scent-700-Wipes-	
	Disinfecting		Bucket/product 2073299	
	Wipes			
	Refill, Fresh			
	Scent Scent.			
	700			
	Wipes/Containe			
	r (31547)			
	- (0.20.1.)			
	1			

TOTAL		\$606.21
(without		
tax):		
TOTAL		\$675
(includes		
tax and		
shipping):		

Musical Instruments

Quality musical instruments that are versatile and age-appropriate for the range of ages at the Early Learning Center are required to establish the music therapy program. These instruments provide rhythmic and melodic variety. Also, if the instruments are purchased by the center itself, then the Early Learning Center will be able to keep them should the music therapist seek employment elsewhere. Furthermore, these expenses will not be encountered each year. Instruments need to be repaired or replaced sometimes, but purchasing the instruments themselves is not an annual expense. I have included a list of music instruments, quantities, and prices in Table 8.

Table 8

Instrument:	Quantity/Exact Item:	Price:	Link:
Buffalo Drum	Remo E1- 1316-BE 16" Bahia Buffalo Drum Black Earth	\$99.95 (plus tax)	https://www.westmusic.co m/drums-percussion/world- drums-percussion/frame- drums/203746

Musical Instrument Budget Estimate for Semester 1

Lollipop Drum Set of	10 Remo Kids Percussion ET- 7110-00 10" Lollipop Drum Boomwhacker	\$199.50 (plus tax) \$115.60	https://www.westmusic.co m/kids-movement/kids- drums/kids-frame- drums/200985 https://www.westmusic.co
Boomwhackers	s 2 Octave Complete Set	(plus tax)	m/drums-percussion/hand- mounted- percussion/boomwhackers/ 205400
Rhythm Sticks	30 Basic Beat BBS12 12" Combination Rhythm Sticks	\$148.50 (plus tax)	https://www.westmusic.co m/drums-percussion/sticks- mallets/world-percussion- sticks-mallets/201357
Egg Shakers	60 Basic Beat BB201 Egg Shaker	\$117 (plus tax)	https://www.westmusic.co m/drums-percussion/hand- mounted- percussion/shakers-rattles- guiros/202376
Djembe	Remo Mondo DJ-0014-32 14" Key- Tuned Djembe Green Kinte	\$429.95 (plus tax)	https://www.westmusic.co m/drums-percussion/world- drums- percussion/djembes/20301 <u>8</u>
Small Djembe Set	2 Toca TFCDJ-7MS Freestyle Colorsound 7 Djembe Set	\$519.98 (plus tax)	https://www.westmusic.co m/drums-percussion/world- drums- percussion/djembes/20521 <u>8</u>
Cabasa	3 Basic Beat BB07L Standard Cabasa	\$74.85 (plus tax)	https://www.westmusic.co m/drums-percussion/hand- mounted- percussion/shakers-rattles- guiros/204346

Gathering	Remo E3-	\$117.95	https://www.westmusic.co	
Drum	5818-17	(plus tax)	m/drums-percussion/world-	
	Gathering		<u>drums-</u>	
	Drum		percussion/gathering-	
			<u>drums/202422</u>	
Bongos	2 Remo Kids	\$95.90	https://www.westmusic.co	
	Percussion	(plus tax)	m/drums-percussion/world-	
	KD-5400-01		<u>drums-</u>	
	Bongos		percussion/bongos/200333	
Mini	6 Hohner Kids	\$83.94	https://www.westmusic.co	
Rainmaker	MP-200 Mini	(plus tax)	m/kids-movement/kids-	
	Rainmaker		percussion/kids-sound-	
			effects/201115	
TOTAL				\$2,003.12
(without tax):				
TOTAL (with				\$1,802.81
10% preferred				
vendor ¹				
discount):				
TOTAL (with				\$2,000
tax and				
shipping):				
Note. 1. Preferred vendor is West Music				

Program Evaluation

The MT-BC will evaluate the proposed music therapy program on the effectiveness to address the goals and objectives as identified by the teachers and music therapist and how the teachers perceive music therapy. At the beginning of the semester, teachers will be given a questionnaire that asks about their overall opinion of music therapy and previous experience with it and what their class's strengths and areas for opportunity are (see Appendix B). After seeing the students for approximately four sessions (two weeks) and after reading the questionnaires from the teachers, the music therapist will write three goals and three objectives to address over the course of the semester. The music therapist will implement a data collection form that will be determined based on the goals and objectives and the specific classes.

At approximately halfway through the semester, teachers will fill out a midsemester feedback survey that will be used to help guide the rest of the semester and to help gauge what is working and what is not working with the children (see Appendix C) The music therapist will also analyze the data collected thus far to evaluate the children's progress towards the goals and objectives. At the end of the semester, the music therapist will analyze the data in the same fashion, and they will issue the teachers an end-ofsemester feedback form to gather their opinions on music therapy and its impact on the children's educational, social, and personal growth (see Appendix D). Based on funding source, feedback forms and data collection sheets may be submitted to funding agency as proof of program implementation. Information gathered from the forms may also influence the development of advocacy materials and professional development.

Appendix B: Classroom Teacher Pre-Music Therapy Questionnaire			
optional):	_ Date:		
Which class do you teach? Please include class	assroom name and age range.		
In your own words, describe music therapy.			
Do you have any previous experience with n	nusic therapy? If so, explain		
Please describe the class's strengths			
Please describe the class's areas for opportu	nity (growth).		
	optional):		

Appendix C: Mid-Semester Feedback Form

me (optional):		Date:
1.) Which class of	lo you teach? Please inclu	ude classroom name and age range.
2.) What is your	favorite thing about musi	ic therapy coming to your class?
3.) In what ways	have the children benefit	tted from music therapy?
4.) What is one t	hing the music therapist s	should do differently with your class?

Appendix D: End-of-Semester Feedback Form

lame ((optional): Date:
1.)	Which class do you teach? Please include classroom name and age range.
2.)	Do you think your class has experienced emotional growth as a result of music therapy? If so, how?
3.)	Do you think your class has experienced academic growth as a result of music
,	therapy? If so, how?
4.)	Do you think your class has experienced social growth as a result of music
	therapy? If so, how?
5.)	Moving forward, how would you like to see music therapy used in the community
	of the center? Is there anything else you would like the music therapist to know?
	(please use space on the back of the form)

Appendix E: Applying the Therapeutic Function of Music

Therapeutic Function of Music

Student information:

Setting: Early Learning Center at the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center
Population: preschool children ages 3–4 years old
Students: "The Parakeets" (ELC uses various animals as the classroom names)
Summary of Strengths: Majority of students are meeting CDC developmental guidelines across domains. Students are able to count to 5 and name objects and have no deficits in gross motor skills. Students are able to speak in complete sentences and follow multi-step directions.

Summary of Needs: One student (A) is autistic and does not engage in music group. He sits to the side of the group playing with his dinosaurs, occasionally looking at MT-BC and classroom teachers. Another student (LG) is also autistic and experiences periods of emotional dysregulation and inability to regulate. She will frequently cry out "No!" whenever she does not want to change to a different activity and begin screaming. Another student (Pi) is deaf and has binaural cochlear implants. She appears to have no difficulty with understanding spoken language, but her speech is slurred. Overall, several of the students display difficulties with impulse control but not out of the ordinary for their age.

Program Goal Considerations: "Children with and without hearing loss or speech/language delays can benefit from our inclusive classroom settings. All classrooms and activities at the Early Learning Center feature language and

literacy enriched curriculum with small student to teacher ratios. The listening and spoken language based programs provide a superior educational foundation for all children" (https://hscky.org/education/).

Problem Statement:

Treatment Goal: Improve social-emotional skills

Objective: Students will engage in one partner activity during a session at least three times across the semester by December 12th.

Rationale: Social and emotional skills are needed to stay regulated and maintain an overall sense of well-being. If a student is unable to identify or label their emotions, then processing emotions will prove to be more difficult. According to Salgado (2015), "Social and emotional development impacts all learning domains and is the foundation for promoting and developing healthy and resilient individuals who are better prepared to learn in a school environment" (p. v). Social and emotional skills are the foundation for success in the other domains and maintaining meaningful relationships (Salgado, 2015). Both neurotypical and neurodivergent preschoolers (ages 3–4 years old) are in the middle of developing skills related to emotional regulation and identification needed for appropriate social interactions in school and in their everyday environments.

Table 9

Musical Element:	Theoretical	Purpose:	Explicit Description:
	Framework:		
Timbre: "pattern of	Infants are drawn to	Certain timbres are	Use the guitar to
partials that are	certain timbres as	better at engaging	engage their attention

present in complex waveforms, and how those partials change over time" (Thompson, 2015b, p. 64); color of the tone	early as four days old (Hodges, 2018).	the students with the therapist and each other.	and promote active engagement or the buffalo drum before a steady beat is even established.
Rhythm : pattern of long and short beat variations	Being "in the same rhythm" as others is a way of being present with them and promotes healthier relationships (Borczon, 2017, p. 61).	Rhythm will help the students connect with their peers.	Use music that has a clear steady beat they can entrain to together as a group.
Pitch : frequency of the sound waves	Pitch helps identify vocal inflection which is needed to understand social communication (i.e. use of humor or sarcasm) (LaGasse, 2014).	Pitch helps students understand and express emotions.	Higher pitches will be used in music to represent high energy emotions, and lower pitches will be used to represent low energy emotions.
Tempo : speed of the beat of music	Tempo promotes improvement in adaptive behavior which is important for emotional regulation and social interactions (Day et al., 2009).	Quicker tempos may increase engagement in activities.	Moderate to quicker tempos (90-150bpm) will be used for most interventions. Slower tempos (60-90bpm) will be used for cool- down activities.
Melody: pitches ordered in a specific way	Beginning in infancy, children are sensitive to melodic contour and gravitate to speech prosody associated with their family (Thompson, 2015a).	Melody will help students express emotions, understand emotional content and figures of speech.	Melody with lots of quick changes will be used to indicate changing emotions. Static melody will be used for regulation.

Dynamics : variations in volume and tempo of music	Dynamics help students understand social aspects of communication, such as the emotions of people with whom they are communicating (Kirkland & Manning, 2011).	This element will help students comprehend emotional content from others during the session.	Louder dynamics will be used to represent high energy emotions. Softer dynamics will be used to represent lower energy emotions.
Lyrics : words of the song	Social Stories, which can be put to music, often provide explicit detail on social interactions and expected responses (Gullón-Rivera et al., 2019).	Lyrics give instructions for certain music activities.	Lyrics will be used in partner activities to give instructions on social interactions (i.e. "Swing your partner once or twice," "Promenade two-by-two," in <i>Barnyard Dance</i>)
Form : organization of musical phrases	Social Stories teach skills needed for social interaction such as reciprocal communication (Gullón-Rivera et al., 2019)	Form will let students know when it is their turn to speak/lead/sing.	Call-and-response songs will teach students about taking turns and listening to others.
Harmony: pitches arranged into a specific order that sounds at the same time as the melody	N/A	N/A	N/A
Style : Genre and cultural implications surrounding the music.	Student-preferred music increases engagement with both the music and each other. Using student-preferred music will lead to a more positive mood-state (Hanson-Abromeit, 2015).	Doing songs/activities that students enjoy increases engagement, sense of autonomy, and self-efficacy.	Students enjoy imaginative music games and movement activities. Students are more engaged with each other during these activities.

Theory-Based Synthesis of Music:

Music is able to guide students to better social-emotional skills, such as takingturns and collaboration. This happens when the music therapist is informed on best practices for utilizing each element. As for the elements, appealing timbres should be used, such as guitar and buffalo drum. As soon as the students hear either one, they are quick to engage with the music therapist and each other. Rhythm is also important because certain rhythms make entrainment to the steady beat and each other easier. In addition, higher pitches and quickly changing melodies help students with identifying and expressing high energy emotions. Whereas lower pitches and more static melodies help with identifying lower energy and slowly changing/static emotions. Static melody can also help with emotional regulation. Louder dynamics will be used to represent high energy emotions, and softer dynamics will be used to represent low energy emotions.

Students enjoy imaginative music games and movement activities. Students are more engaged with each other during these activities. While engaged in such activities, call-and-response helps students learn social communication skills such as taking turns and reciprocal communication, and lyrics will be used to give instructions for such activities and various social interactions.

Non-Music-Based Strategies:

The first non-music-based strategy to consider is to have a safe space that is big enough for the students to gather in and move around. Clearing the space of cumbersome furniture and tripping hazards is important. Moreover, clearing the space of distractions (toys, markers, various art supplies) will be helpful because then students can focus on engaging with each other and the music. Using student's names when giving instructions is also important because the student will feel more connected to the music therapist. Also, it is important to demonstrate the skills on which the students are focusing. Modeling emotional expression and social skills, such as de-escalation strategies (deep breathing, counting, identifying objects), taking turns, and labeling emotions, will help students be able to regulate themselves and work well with others.

REFERENCES

American Academy of Audiology. (2022). *Listening fatigue in children who are deaf and hard of hearing*. American Academy of Audiology.

https://www.audiology.org/listening-fatigue-in-children-who-are-deaf-and-hard-ofhearing/#:~:text=What%20is%20listening%20fatigue%3F,for%20increased%20co ncentration%20and%20attention.

American Music Therapy Association. (2023). *What is music therapy?* American Music Therapy Association. Retrieved April 13, 2023, from

https://www.musictherapy.org/about/musictherapy/

American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA). (2023). Sensorineural

hearing loss. American Speech-Language-Hearing Association.

https://www.asha.org/public/hearing/sensorineural-hearing-

loss/#:~:text=Sensorineural%20hearing%20loss%2C%20or%20SNHL,type%20of

%20permanent%20hearing%20loss.

- Beauchamp, M., Bond, C., Knueven, L., McNair, K., & Rapacon, S. (2022, August 16). Why being single is so expensive. theSkimm.
 <u>https://www.theskimm.com/money/why-being-single-is-expensive</u>
- Bergman Nutley, S., Darki, F., & Klingberg, T. (2014). Music practice is associated with development of working memory during childhood and adolescence. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7, 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00926</u>
- Birch, J., & Thompson, G. (2023). Exploring music therapy research in preschool settings that include children with disabilities: A scoping review. *Journal of Music Therapy*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jmt/thac015</u>

- Borczon, R. M. (2017). How to plan and implement music experiences. In *Music therapy: A fieldwork primer* (2nd ed., pp. 59-77). Barcelona Publishers.
- Bunt, L. (2012). Music therapy: a resource for creativity, health and well-being across the lifespan. In O. Odena (Ed.), *Musical creativity: Insights from music education research* (pp. 187–204). Routledge.
- Cameron, C. (2010). Does anybody like being disabled? A critical exploration of impairment, identity, media and everyday experience in a disabling society (Publication No. 1789556678) [Doctoral dissertation, Queen Margaret University]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Cole, P. M., Dennis, T. A., Smith-Simon, K. E., & Cohen, L. H. (2009). Preschoolers' emotion regulation strategy understanding: Relations with emotion socialization and child self-regulation. *Social Development*, 18(2), 324–352.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2008.00503.x

- Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL). (2023, March 3). What is the CASEL framework?. CASEL. <u>https://casel.org/fundamentals-of-</u> <u>sel/what-is-the-casel-framework/</u>
- Côté, S., Gyurak, A., & Levenson, R. W. (2010). The ability to regulate emotion is associated with greater well-being, income, and socioeconomic status. *Emotion (Washington, D.C.)*, *10*(6), 923–933. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021156</u>
- Day, R. F., Lin, C. H., Huang, W. H., & Chuang, S. H. (2009). Effects of music tempo and task difficulty on multi-attribute decision-making: An eye-tracking approach. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 25(1), 130–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2008.08.001

- DeLoach, D., & Cevasco-Trotter, A. (2014). Grant writing for music therapy. In L. F.
 Gooding (Ed.), *Medical music therapy: Building a comprehensive program* (pp. 75–82). American Music Therapy Association.
- Down Syndrome Association for Central Kentucky. (2022). *Down Syndrome Association for Central Kentucky*. Down Syndrome Association of Central Kentucky | Home. <u>https://dsack.org/</u>
- Edgar, S. N. (2019). *Music education and social emotional learning: The heart of teaching music*. GIA Publications, Inc.
- Family Voices. (2023, June 8). *About Family Voices*. Family Voices. https://familyvoices.org/about/
- Flaugnacco, E., Lopez, L., Terribili, C., Montico, M., Zoia, S., & Schön, D. (2015). Music training increases phonological awareness and reading skills in developmental dyslexia: A randomized control trial. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(9), 1-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0138715</u>

Foundation Group, Inc. (1995-2023). What is a 501(c)(3)? A guide to nonprofit taxexempt status. Foundation Group®. <u>https://www.501c3.org/what-is-a-</u> 501c3/#:~:text=Section%20501(c)(3,explain%20in%20more%20detail%20later.

- Fusaro, M., & Smith, M. C. (2018). Preschoolers' inquisitiveness and science-relevant problem solving. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 42, 119–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2017.09.002</u>
- Gerry, D., Unrau, A., & Trainor, L. J. (2012). Active music classes in infancy enhance musical, communicative and social development. *Developmental Science*, 15(3), 398–407. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2012.01142.x</u>

- Gfeller, K., Driscoll, V., Kenworthy, M., & Van Voorst, T. (2011). Music therapy for preschool cochlear implant recipients. *Music Therapy Perspectives*, 29(1), 39–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/mtp/29.1.39</u>
- Gordon, E. E. (2012). *Learning sequences in music: A contemporary music learning theory* (4th ed.). Gia Publications.
- Gullón-Rivera, A., Millar, R., & Flemmings, S. (2019). Training parents to create and implement Social Stories: Promoting social competence in children without disabilities. *Family Relations*, 68(4), 450–468. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12374</u>
- Hanson-Abromeit, D. (2015). A conceptual methodology to define the therapeutic function of music. *Music Therapy Perspectives*, 33(1), 25-38. <u>https://10.1093/mtp/miu061</u>
- Harris, John. (2000). Is there a coherent social conception of disability? *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 26. 95–100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jme.26.2.95</u>
- Hodges, D. A. (2018). The neuroaesthetics of music. In *The Oxford handbook of music psychology* (2nd ed., pp. 247–262). Oxford University Press.
- Hornsby, B. W., Gustafson, S. J., Lancaster, H., Cho, S.-J., Camarata, S., & Bess, F. H. (2017). Subjective fatigue in children with hearing loss assessed using self- and parent-proxy report. *American Journal of Audiology*, 26(3S), 393–407.

https://doi.org/10.1044/2017_aja-17-0007

Human Development Institute - University of Kentucky. (2023). Advocacy resources. Kentucky Disability Resource Guide.

https://resources.hdiuky.org/category/advocacy-resources/

- Humpal, M. (2018). Early childhood music therapy. In A. Knight, B. LaGasse, & A.Clair (Eds.), *Music therapy: An introduction to the profession* (pp. 161–183).American Music Therapy Association.
- Kenton, W. (2023). Nonprofit Organization (NPO): Definition and example. Investopedia. <u>https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/non-profitorganization.asp</u>
- Kucirkova, N. I., & Tosun, S. (2023). Children's olfactory picturebooks: Charting new trends in early childhood education. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-023-01457-z</u>
- LaGasse, A. B. (2014). Effects of a music therapy group intervention on enhancing social skills in children with autism. *Journal of Music Therapy*, 51(3), 250–275 . <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jmt/thu012</u>
- Lense, M. D., Shultz, S., Astésano, C., & Jones, W. (2022). Music of infant-directed singing entrains infants' social visual behavior. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 119(45), e2116967119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2116967119</u>
- Lo, C., Looi, V., Thompson, W., & McMahon, C. (2022). Beyond audition: Psychosocial benefits of music training for children with hearing loss. *Ear and Hearing*, 43 (1), 128-142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.000000000001083</u>.
- Lucas, C. G., Bridgers, S., Griffiths, T. L., & Gopnik, A. (2014). When children are better (or at least more open-minded) learners than adults: Developmental differences in learning the forms of causal relationships. *Cognition*, *131*(2), 284–299. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2013.12.010</u>

- Manny, F. A. (1910). Review of: The early education of children. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 1(4), 220–221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0068048</u>
- Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research. (2022a). *Cochlear implants*. Mayo Clinic. <u>https://www.mayoclinic.org/tests-procedures/cochlear-</u> implants/about/pac-20385021
- Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research. (2022b). *Hearing aids: How to choose the right one*. Mayo Clinic. <u>https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/hearing-loss/in-depth/hearing-aids/art-20044116</u>
- McCormack, C., & Collins, B. (2012). The affirmative model of disability: A means to include disability orientation in occupational therapy? *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 75(3), 156–158.

https://doi.org/10.4276/030802212x13311219571909

- Miller-Jones, A. M. (2017). The effect of music therapy upon language acquisition for children on the autism spectrum aged 3-8 years (Publication No. 10603122)
 [Doctoral dissertation, Northwest Nazarene University]. ProQuest LLC.
- Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services. (2022, November 7). *About IDEA*. Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. Retrieved April 16, 2023, from <u>https://sites.ed.gov/idea/about-idea/</u>
- Oxenham, A. J. (2008). Pitch perception and auditory stream segregation: Implications for hearing loss and cochlear implants. *Trends in Amplification*, 12(4), 316–331. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1084713808325881</u>
- Peters, W. (2011). A RFP process overview for nonprofits, charities, and libraries: Some basic considerations for each phase of the RFP process. TechSoup.

https://www.techsoup.org/support/articles-and-how-tos/overview-of-the-rfpprocess?cg=searchterms&sg=rfp+process

- Piaget, J., & Cartalis, E. (1928). *Judgement and reasoning in the child*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203207260
- Promero, Inc. (2023). *Largest online grant catalog*. The Grant Portal. https://www.thegrantportal.com/
- Putkinen, V., Tervaniemi, M., & Huotilainen, M. (2012). Informal musical activities are linked to auditory discrimination and attention in 2-3-year-old children: An eventrelated potential study. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *37*(4), 654–661. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.12049</u>
- Ratts, M. J., Singh, A. A., Nassau-McMillan, S., Butler, S. K., & McCullough, J. R.
 (2015). *Multicultural and Social Justice Counseling Competencies*.
 Counseling.org. Retrieved February 6, 2023, from
 <u>https://www.counseling.org/docs/default-source/competencies/multicultural-and-social-justice-counseling-competencies.pdf?sfvrsn=20</u>
- Register, D., Hughes, J. E., & Standley, J. M. (2012). *The sounds of emerging literacy : Music-based applications to facilitate prereading and writing skills in early intervention*. American Music Therapy Association.
- Rickson, D. J. (2014). The relevance of disability perspectives in music therapy practice with children and young people who have intellectual disability. *Voices: A World Forum for Music Therapy*, 14(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.15845/voices.v14i3.784</u>

- Robb, S. L. (2003). Designing music therapy interventions for hospitalized children and adolescents using a contextual support model of music therapy. Music Therapy Perspectives, 21(1), 27–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/mtp/21.1.27</u>
- Robb, S. L., Carpenter, J. S., & Burns, D. S. (2011). Reporting guidelines for musicbased interventions. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 16(2), 342-352. https://10.1177/1359105310374781
- Rogers, A. (2019). Lenses for conceptualizing problems and interventions: The person in the environment. In *Human behavior in the social environment: Perspectives on development and the life course* (5th ed., pp. 23–33). Routledge Books.
- Rudy, L. J. (2022). *What to say instead of "special needs."* Verywell Family. https://www.verywellfamily.com/what-are-special-needs-3106002
- Ryf, J. (2023). *Identity-first language vs. people-first language*. Disability Rights Texas. <u>https://disabilityrightstx.org/en/2023/04/13/identity-first-language-vs-people-first-language/</u>
- Salgado, Y. M. (2015). A music-based social emotional curriculum project: Helping toddlers with developmental delays develop language and cognition skills through a music-based social emotional curriculum (Order No. 1595342) [Master's thesis, San Diego State University]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.
- Schwartz, E. (2008). *Music, therapy, and early childhood: A developmental approach*. Barcelona Publishers.
- Sena Moore, K. (2013). A systematic review on the neural effects of music on emotion regulation: Implications for music therapy practice. *Journal of Music Therapy*, 50(3), 198–242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jmt/50.3.198</u>

- Sena Moore, K. (2009). *The therapy business blueprint: A 7-step approach to starting your own private practice* [e-book].
- Sena Moore, K., & Hanson-Abromeit, D. (2018). Feasibility of the Musical Contour Regulation Facilitation (MCRF) Intervention for Preschooler Emotion Regulation Development: A Mixed Methods Study. *The Journal of Music Therapy*, 55(4), 408–438. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jmt/thy014</u>
- Sena Moore, K., & Hanson-Abromeit, D. (2015). Theory-guided Therapeutic Function of Music to facilitate emotion regulation development in preschool-aged children. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 9, 572–572.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2015.00572

- Shakespeare, T. (2010). The social model of disability. In L. J. Davis (Ed.), *The Disability Studies Reader* (pp. 266–273). Routledge.
- Sibley, K. (2013). *Autism as a lifestyle as seen through the eyes of an autistic adult*. What I Think.

http://web.archive.org/web/20131012113050/http://www.shoeboxtasks.com/autism -articles/what-i-think

Skinner, A. L., Olson, K. R., & Meltzoff, A. N. (2020). Acquiring group bias: Observing other people's nonverbal signals can create social group biases. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 119(4), 824–838.

https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000218

Southwell, J. (2016). Using 'expressive therapies' to treat developmental trauma and attachment problems in preschool-aged children. *Children Australia*, *41*(2), 114–125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/cha.2016.7</u>

- Standley, J. M., & Walworth, D. (2010). Music Therapy with Premature Infants: Research and Developmental Interventions (2nd ed.). The American Music Therapy Association.
- Sur, S., & Sinha, V. K. (2009). Event-related potential: An overview. *Industrial Psychiatry Journal*, 18(1), 70–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/0972-6748.57865</u>
- Swain, J., & French, S. (2000). Towards an affirmation model of disability. *Disability & Society*, 15(4), 569–582. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09687590050058189</u>
- Tesson, S., Butow, P. N., Marshall, K., Fonagy, P., & Kasparian, N. A. (2022). Parentchild bonding and attachment during pregnancy and early childhood following congenital heart disease diagnosis. *Health Psychology Review*, *16*(3), 378–411. https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2021.1927136
- The Hearing & Speech Center. (2020, June 2). *Education*. The Hearing & Speech Center. Retrieved February 28, 2023, from <u>https://hscky.org/education/</u>
- Thompson, W. F. (2015). Music acquisition. In *Music, thought, and feeling:* Understanding the psychology of music (2nd ed., pp. 107–132). Oxford University Press.
- Thompson, W. F. (2015). Musical building blocks. In *Music, thought, and feeling:* Understanding the psychology of music (2nd ed., pp. 45–72). Oxford University Press.
- Thümmler, R., Engel, E. M., & Bartz, J. (2022). Strengthening emotional development and emotion regulation in childhood-As a key task in early childhood education. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(7).
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19073978

- Tierney, A., & Kraus, N. (2014). Auditory-motor entrainment and phonological skills: Precise auditory timing hypothesis (PATH). *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8, 949–949. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2014.00949
- Toyota Motor Sales, U.S.A., Inc. (2022). *Grant program guidelines and instructions*. Overview. <u>https://www.toyota.com/usa/community/grant-guidelines-</u> applications/overview
- Toyota Motor Sales, U.S.A., Inc. (2022). *Toyota Motor Manufacturing, Kentucky, Inc.* (*TMMK*). Community Grants TMMK.

https://www.toyota.com/usa/community/articles/community_grants_tmmk

Trainor, L. J., Marie, C., Gerry, D., Whiskin, E., & Unrau, A. (2012). Becoming musically enculturated: Effects of music classes for infants on brain and behavior. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1252(1), 129–138.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06462.x

Union of the Physically Impaired Against Segregation. (1974). Union of the physically impaired against segregation: Policy statement. London, England.

University of Helsinki. (2023). DyslexiaBaby. University of Helsinki.

https://www.helsinki.fi/en/researchgroups/dyslexiababy

- Váradi, J. (2022). A review of the literature on the relationship of music education to the development of socio-emotional learning. SAGE Open, 12(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440211068501
- Virtala, P., & Partanen, E. (2018). Can very early music interventions promote at-risk infants' development? *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1423(1), 92– 101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.13646</u>

- Wade, D. T., & Halligan, P. W. (2017). The biopsychosocial model of illness: A model whose time has come. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 31(8), 995–1004.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215517709890
- Welch, G. F., Saunders, J., Edwards, S., Palmer, Z., Himonides, E., Knight, J., Mahon, M., Griffin, S., & Vickers, D. A. (2015). Using singing to nurture children's hearing? A pilot study. *Cochlear Implants International*, *16*(sup3), p. S63–S70. https://doi.org/10.1179/1467010015z.00000000276_
- Williams, K. E., Savage, S., & Eager, R. (2020). Rhythm and Movement for Self-Regulation (RAMSR) intervention for preschool self-regulation development in disadvantaged communities: a clustered randomised controlled trial study protocol. *BMJ Open, 10*(9), e036392–e036392. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-</u> 2019-036392
- Wylie, J., & Foster-Cohen, S. (2013). Musical play as therapy in an early intervention programme. *Approaches: Music Therapy & Special Education*, *5*(1), 34–42.
- Zhang, M., Ding, Y., Zhang, J., Jiang, X., Xu, N., Zhang, L., & Yu, W. (2022). Effect of group impromptu music therapy on emotional regulation and depressive symptoms of college students: A randomized controlled study. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.851526</u>
- Zhao, T. C., & Kuhl, P. K. (2016). Musical intervention enhances infants' neural processing of temporal structure in music and speech. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(19), 5212–5217. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1603984113

VITA

Laura Elliott Buckner, MT-BC

EDUCATION

Master of Music in Music Therapy December 2023 Graduate Certificate in Diversity and Inclusion May 2022 Bachelor of Music in Music Education Vocal-General/Vocal K-12 May 2020

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

Music Therapist, Board Certified-Independent Contractor September 2023-Present Music Therapist, Board Certified-Independent Contractor April 2023-Present Graduate Teaching Assistant August 2022-May 2023 Voice Teacher February 2021-Present

SCHOLASTIC HONORS

Poster Presentation 2023 Poster Presentation 2023 Concurrent Session Presentation 2022 Cliff Jackson Collaboration 2023 Little Endowment Scholarship 2022-2023 Jane Lee Forrest Music Scholar 2021 James Still Fellowship 2020-2021 University of Kentucky

University of Kentucky

University of Tennessee – Knoxville

Music Therapy Services of Central Kentucky

Edge Music Therapy

University of Kentucky

Self-Employed

American Music Therapy Association Southeastern Regional Conference American Music Therapy Association Southeastern Regional Conference American Music Therapy Association Southeastern Regional Conference University of Kentucky

University of Kentucky

University of Kentucky

University of Kentucky